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From: Ralph, Daniel
To: Ralph, Daniel; All Faculty; Academic Staff DL
Cc: Wettstein, Jason; Sprague, Todd; Balsam, Jessica; Acad. Computing DL
Subject: Correction: Fall  Faculty Update 4
Date: Thursday, December 13, 2007 4:35:38 PM


My very tired eyes missed a critical typo: Mukti’s last name was mispelled.  Sorry everyone.
 
Dan


From: Ralph, Daniel 
Sent: Thursday, December 13, 2007 3:26 PM
To: All Faculty; Academic Staff DL
Cc: Wettstein, Jason; Sprague, Todd; Balsam, Jessica; Acad. Computing DL
Subject: Fall Faculty Update 4
 
Nalini Nadkarni
Nalini gave a number of talks during Fall Quarter concerning her canopy research and
science outreach projects. These included seminars at the University of Washington’s Forum
for Science, Ethics, and Policy; a keynote talk at the Conference for Fish and Wildlife
Research at Oregon State University; the annual meeting of the Audubon Society of
Washington; the annual meeting of the Healthcare Finance Management Association, and the
Department of Biology at Lewis and Clark College in Portland. She also participated as a
senior scientist at the University of Washington’s Symposium on WEBS -- Women Evolving
Biological Sciences, to advance women in academia. One of her publications, entitled
“Ecological outreach to faith-based communities”, was published in the Ecological Society of
America’s journal “Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution” (2007: Vol. 5:332-3) and was
chosen for distribution on the website of Yale University’s Forum on Religion and Ecology: 
http://environment.harvard.edu/religion/disciplines/science/essays/index.html
 
Jason Kilmer
Jason is the keynote speaker for the upcoming Student Mental Health & Alcohol Abuse
combined intervention and collaboration conference in Tampa in January. He also recently
provided a training session in Seattle that drew national attention on BASICS (Brief Alcohol
Screening and Intervention of College Students).
 
Mukti Khanna
Mukti facilitated a series of expressive arts dialogue groups for the Second International
"Engaging the Other: The Power of Compassion" Conference sponsored by the
CommonBond Institute in Dearborn, Michigan  (www.cbiworld.org).  Mukti was also an
invited panelist in a roundtable on "Belongingness:  The Search for the Other Half".
 
In addition, Mukti is collaborating with Deborah Koff-Chapin, BFA on integrating
interpretive touch drawings of the conference with selected thematic proceedings from
interdisciplinary presenters.  Touch Drawing images done during the conference can be found
at www.touchdrawing.com under Conference Art.
 
Steve Niva
On October 17th, Steve published an article titled “Counterinsurgency American Style:  The
Symptomatic Case of Brian Baird's Pro-War Conversion” in the on-line magazine
Counterpunch.  To read the article, follow this link:
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http://www.counterpunch.org/niva10172007.html
 
He also gave a lecture in Chicago on October 27 at the Third Unitarian Church's lecture
series where he discussed "Mistaken Enemies, Wrong War:  Strategic Failures in the
American "War on Terror'".
 
Joye Hardiman
This November, Joye was the guest of the Social and Healthcare College in Copenhagen,
Denmark. While in Copenhagen she consulted with representatives from the Ministry of
Education and worked with the leadership, management, service and teaching staff of the
College around issues of institutional paradigm shifts, inclusion, immigration, retention and
meeting national and European Union timelines and objectives.
 
Also, last August, in recognition of her global history scholarship, Joye was invited to give a
presentation on “Reflective Practice and Creative Production; Restoring that which is in Ruin
and Making it more Beautiful than Before” at the Association for the Study of Classical
African Civilizations’ 24th Annual Ancient Egyptian Studies Conference in Aswan, Egypt.
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From: Ralph, Daniel
To: All Faculty; Acad. Computing DL; Academic Staff DL
Cc: Wettstein, Jason; Sprague, Todd; Quarandillo, Ann Mary; Balsam, Jessica; Burt, Robin (RJ); Suchanek, Julie
Subject: FW: Addendum: Spring Faculty Update 6
Date: Monday, June 09, 2008 1:43:21 PM
Attachments: LahNatPapFinalbk.doc


As an addendum to Update #6, I’ve attached a copy of Rob Smurr’s article “Lahemaa: The Paradox of the USSR’s First
National Park.”
 
Dan
 


From: Ralph, Daniel 
Sent: Monday, June 09, 2008 1:37 PM
To: All Faculty; Academic Staff DL; Acad. Computing DL
Cc: Wettstein, Jason; Sprague, Todd; Quarandillo, Ann Mary; Burt, Robin (RJ); Suchanek, Julie; Balsam, Jessica
Subject: Spring Faculty Update 6
 
Stephanie Coontz
The June 6th edition of the Wall Street Journal included an op-ed piece by Stephanie.  The piece concerns the
increasing use of collaborative divorce as an alternative to adversarial divorce for the dissolution of marriages.  It also
disputes the claim that this trend amounts to “normalizing” divorce in a way that will have negative consequences for
the children of the divorced couples.
 
Gilda Sheppard
Gilda recently screened her reedited documentary "Liberian Women Together As One" at the 61st Annual Festival de
Cannes "Short Film Corner".  The film documents work she did in collaboration with Liberian refugee women and
children at the Buduburam refugee camp in Ghana, West Africa.   While at the Festival she was invited to give a pitch
for her next projects.  This pitch was aired on television in France, and included discussion of projects like a dramatic
film adaptation of a short story by faculty member Peter Bacho titled "Dancer" and a docudrama film on youth in USA
as child soldiers.  The documentary also recently took the second place "Local Filmmaker Award" at the 2008 Langston
Hughes Film Festival.
 
Rob Smurr
Rob is the author of an article titled “Lahemaa: The Paradox of the USSR’s First National Park” in Nationalities
Papers, Vol. 36, No. 3, July 2008.  He presented his findings at the “Parks Abroad” panel as part of the Designing the
Parks conference at the University of Virginia in May.  His research illustrates the intricate nexus between cultural and
national constructs, the natural and built worlds, and historical memory.  He suggests that the natural world played a
significant role in providing one diminutive nation (Estonia) with a reified sense of self and purpose, and that it did so
with and despite the watchful eye of its Soviet ruling elite.
 
Nancy Koppelman
Nancy will be the keynote speaker at a Queer Studies symposium in June at King's College in London.  The
Symposium is titled "The Queer Child: Are the Kids Alright?"  The paper is entitled "Gay for Baby Tigers:  Desire,
Deliberation, and Growing Up."
 
Susan Fiksdal
Susan wrote a chapter in an edited volume whose title is Cognitive Sociolinguistics: Language Variation, Cultural
Models, Social Systems, edited by Gitte Kristiansen and René Dirven. The volume introduces a new field of inquiry and
the chapter is titled "Metaphorically Speaking: Gender and Classroom Discourse.”  The publisher is Mouton de Gruyter.
 
Joe Fedderson
Two important exhibits of Joe’s work are taking place right now: his “Urban Vernacular” series is being exhibited at the
Froelick Gallery in Portland (June 3-28) and his “Vitals Signs” series is being exhibited at the Missoula Art Museum
from June 3rd through September 20th.
 
For information about the exhibit in Portland:
 
http://www.froelickgallery.com/
 
For information about the exhibit in Missoula:
 
http://www.missoulaartmuseum.org/index.php/ID/bbb04aa327bf217399a13374b5863de1/fuseaction/experience.detail.htm
 



mailto:/O=THE EVERGREEN STATE COLLEGE/OU=HERMES/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=RALPHD

mailto:allfaculty@evergreen.edu

mailto:/O=THE EVERGREEN STATE COLLEGE/OU=HERMES/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=AcadComputing

mailto:academicstaff@evergreen.edu

mailto:/O=THE EVERGREEN STATE COLLEGE/OU=HERMES/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=Wettstej

mailto:spraguet@evergreen.edu

mailto:/O=THE EVERGREEN STATE COLLEGE/OU=HERMES/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=Quaranda

mailto:/O=THE EVERGREEN STATE COLLEGE/OU=HERMES/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=Balsamj

mailto:/O=THE EVERGREEN STATE COLLEGE/OU=HERMES/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=Burtr

mailto:suchanej@evergreen.edu

http://www.froelickgallery.com/

http://www.missoulaartmuseum.org/index.php/ID/bbb04aa327bf217399a13374b5863de1/fuseaction/experience.detail.htm



PAGE  


                                                                                                                              - 45 -






Draft Copy Only.  Final proofed copy will be published in Nationalities Papers, Vol. 36, No. 3, July 2008.  Please only cite from published article.









-- Robert Smurr, 5/30/2008


Lahemaa: The Paradox of the USSR’s First National Park



[A] place belongs forever to whoever claims it the hardest, remembers it most obsessively, wrenches it from itself, shapes it, renders it, loves it so radically that he remakes it in his own image.



-  Joan Didion



The residents of Lahemaa have evolved into Lahemaa folk, who look upon the park with the eyes of a caretaker, who preserve and protect it...[they] have developed a keen interest in looking after their home and environment.  



-  Ilmar Epner, 1986



In an empire as highly centralized as was the Soviet Union, it is a curious historical footnote that the far-flung super-state’s first national park was established during the stagnant and oppressive Brezhnev era not within the Russian Federation itself, but rather in Estonia, the smallest republic of the Union.
  Curious, too, that impetus for the park’s creation came not from the Soviet center, but from the Estonian periphery.  And most curious of all is the apparent tolerance that Moscow-center showed to nascent Estonian nationalists in their sustained drive to create Lahemaa National Park.  How many of the world’s national parks, after all, can one find in a highly contested border region that is demarcated, in part, by searchlights, barbed wire, guard towers, and a training facility for tracking infiltrators and refugees?
  



This article suggests that by memorializing and affirming their particular “ownership” of the land through the creation of a national park, Estonians signaled yet again that their tiny Baltic Republic was, in the long term, indigestible for the Soviet Union.
  Of course, the Estonian preservationists who spearheaded the campaign to found Lahemaa National Park did not express overtly nationalistic goals, nor, it seems, did Russia’s more chauvinistic ministers view their goals as such.  Nevertheless, this paper contends that Estonian park promoters did act as de facto nationalists in their quest to create the park.  Yet the mere fact that the Estonian park promoters may have desired to elevate their national culture by creating a national park is in itself neither inherently anti-Marxist nor anti-Soviet, for Marx, Engels, and their Soviet legatees all presumed that national forms and cultures would persist even after states themselves had withered away.  Indeed, Lenin himself signed a decree in 1921 that designated national parks as suitable types of protected areas for the USSR.  What did set Lahemaa apart from the Soviet Marxist vision, however, was the fact that its Estonian founders strove to have the park project a national culture that was nearly devoid of socialist content.  Whereas Moscow appeared willing to tolerate a park that was natural in form so long as it was socialist in content, Estonians ultimately succeeded in creating a park that was both natural in form and national in content.  Concerns for the Estonian nation, its folk (rahvas), its history, and its native environment superseded what had historically been more paramount Soviet concerns with promethean “modernization” projects and a hypothetical theoretical construct that envisioned the “drawing together and merging of nations” (sblizhenie i sliianie narodov).
  



It is in this context that the USSR’s first national park presents us with an intriguing paradox: Lahemaa appealed to the anti-modern nationalist sentiments of its intended (primarily, Estonian) audience, but it did so in an era, and under the observant eye, of a more “modern” and “international” promethean-minded overlord.  Yet because nationalism is in many respects both a consequence of, and a reaction to modernization, its proponents often seek ways to present the old within the new.
  For decades Moscow-center dictated its version of the new to the entire Soviet empire, whereas Estonian preservationists elevated the place of the old in one small corner of it.  Unlike Moscow officials, Estonians saw little need to sweep aside the past in a rush to exploit the land in the name of “progress” and “the scientific and technical revolution.”  Rather, they were eager to make what gains they could under Leonid Brezhnev’s regime, characterized as it was by a collective leadership that tried its best to co-opt rather than flatly suppress the USSR’s many preservationist organizations.
  The problem, of course, is that just as “internationalism” and nationalism are incompatible ideologies, so too are prometheanism and preservation.  As such, any accord between the two was bound to be both tenuous and artificial.  In the longue durée, the ideas espoused by Estonia’s preservationists proved to have greater appeal than did those emanating from Moscow. 



Given the stagnant socialism that characterized the Soviet economy in the 1960s - 70s under Leonid Brezhnev, however, skeptics might justifiably question just how relevant questions of Marxism or socialism were – in any form – when planners were debating the merits of the park.  Indeed, with continued demands for economic and industrial growth prevailing throughout the USSR, concerns about the proposed park’s natural resources could have likely figured far more prominently in Moscow and Tallinn bureaucracies than questions about Marxist theory.  The Estonian naturalist Edgar Kask, for example, notes that much resistance to the park came from those who were most interested in capitalizing on its natural resources.
  Because the proposed park territory was surrounded on all sides by extensive, and extensively destructive, oil shale and phosphorite mining activities, many Estonian preservationists felt added pressure to prevent further encroachment on the economically underdeveloped region, some of which was mineral and resource rich.   Ultimately, the creation of the park enabled Estonians to reintroduce the human element into a discourse that had been dominated in the Soviet era by more strictly utilitarian aspects of nature conservation.  And, as the chemist Mare Taagepera noted, the park also managed to “save northern Estonia from ecological catastrophe,” precariously wedged as it was between the Virumaa oil shale mines to the east and the Maardu phosphorite mining operations to the west.
  


The road to Lahemaa’s founding as a National Park was itself long and circuitous.  For even before Estonia gained independence from tsarist Russia, some preservationists, such as the Russian botanist Ivan Borodin, considered the prospect of establishing a national park in the Baltic provinces, however briefly.  Inspired by the Americans, who “have been the driving force behind the movement” to found national parks, Borodin nonetheless concluded that beyond the national parks already established in Switzerland and Sweden, European prospects (in which he included the Baltic provinces) would be slim.  In his view “regional population density “ and the lack of “colossal lands unspoiled by cultural encroachment” made the idea of any new European national parks “hard to imagine.”
  



The Russian Borodin had no problems in thinking of Estonia as fully within the European realm, for he well knew that as one of the westernmost regions of the Russian Empire, Estonia (Estland and the northern half of Livland) and its inhabitants endured nearly 700 years of governance under Baltic German landholders.  Borodin and a great number of the other members of Russia’s Academy of Sciences – most of whom were ethnically and linguistically German – focused primarily on the advantages to be gained by maintaining close ties to the European, and particularly, German scientific and intellectual elite.  Just as the German Kulturträger and reformer Johann Gottfried Herder's ideas ultimately gave birth to nationalist movements in Estonia and Latvia, and just as German choral orchestrations gave rise to world famous Baltic singing traditions, so too did German ideals of imagining landscape transfer well to an increasingly empowered and nationalistic Estonian folk in the late nineteenth century.
  



Herder’s great influence gave rise to what one might call “Estophile activity” (“estofiilne tegevus”) amongst many Baltic German elite, yet because until the latter half of the nineteenth century access to education was denied, ipso jure, to the ethnic majority that would benefit most, Baltic German culture necessarily became the first to respond to wider European movements.
  It was Germans – ethnically, culturally, and linguistically defined – who introduced the modern concept of nature preservation to the Russian Empire’s Baltic gubernii (Estland, Livland, and Kurland), and eventually, to the physical territory of Russia itself.  Specialists and “outsiders” the Germans may have been, but they nevertheless brought new ways of seeing to the Estonian landscape.  Were it not for them, ideals such as Landschaftspflege, Heimatschutz, Volkskunde, and the preservation (or creation) of rustic landscapes that first flowered in Germany and Prussia would not have quickly found an enthusiastically receptive Baltic audience.  



The radical transformation in perceptions of landscape and Volk studies that arose in Germany was squarely based in nationalistic ideology.  Finding it difficult to substantiate sufficient claims to national and cultural superiority based upon works of art or architecture, conservative German intellectuals began to praise what they perceived to be their nation’s particularly close and harmonious ancestral relationship to nature, a rationalization that would later work even more effectively for the long-subordinated Estonian rahvas.  Germans thus began to praise natural design as “truly ‘Teutonic’” while simultaneously maligning formal design “as being on a lower cultural level and characteristic of so-called ‘south Alpine races.’”  In essence, German intellectuals managed so effectively to elevate the place of the natural world that their “cultural history was idealized to natural history.”
  They, their landscape, and especially their nation were perceived as entirely organic, that is, natural.  As such, supposed ancient landscapes and pre-industrial symbols came to represent the German nation and helped to “affirm its immutability.”
  



Estonians may have considered Germans as little more than privileged “outsiders” in the Russian Empire’s western borderland, yet the Germans themselves had such a long and established history in the Baltic region that they looked upon it as their homeland, their Heimat.  Indeed, so entrenched was Baltic German culture that Friedrich Robert Faehlmann and Friedrich Reinhold Kreutzwald, the “Germanified” Estonian compilers of Kalevipoeg (Son of Kalev), the great Estonian epic, both believed that assimilation into German culture was inevitable.  Yet because folkloric explanations for atypical features of the native landscape were among the oldest and most prominent aspects of the epic, and because Kalevipoeg became so central to an Estonian national identity, the place of the landscape was elevated in nationalist rhetoric.  Along with the increasing fame of the epic came an even greater awareness of the natural features described in it, much as it seems Kreutzwald intended.  Witness his preface to the 1857 edition of Kalevipoeg: “When the last devoted echoes of the folk fall silent, the very stones, hills, rivers and lakes of the homeland will show the traces left by the deeds of the mighty hero.”
  Thus much of the impetus for the codification of Estonian folklore and perceptions of landscape stemmed from German social and cultural institutions, yet for Estonians these processes assumed patriotic if not nationalistic lives of their own by the 1880s, and they provided the ideological foundations for a future national park.



A more sustained search for a suitable area in which to establish a national park itself was begun by Estonian scientists and enthusiasts during the early years of the interwar independent republic, a period when overt expressions of nationalism and patriotism were greatly pronounced.  Yet there was a profound irony in their quest, for they (or more correctly, their successors) only succeeded in attaining this goal in 1971 when the republic was but one small part of the enormous Soviet empire, and when overt expressions of Estonian nationalism and patriotism were harshly suppressed.  Arguably, those who promoted the park during the uncertain Soviet era might have deemed its founding more critical then than would have their more confident pre-war predecessors.  In 1971, the Estonian nation felt insecure.  It did not in 1923.  



It comes as little surprise, then, that patriotic preservationists who came to the fore in inter-war independent Estonia disregarded Borodin’s prewar skepticism.  As early as February 1923, the Estonian Nature Protection Section of the Tartu Naturalists Society requested some twenty-five square kilometers of an ancient forest in northeast Estonia’s Alutaguse region near Paasvere to be declared a national park.  Gustav Vilbaste, an indefatigable educator and Estonia’s first Inspector of Nature Protection, shared in the goal to found a park, but he was non-committal about any specific site.  “Wherever we decide upon a national park,” he wrote, “it should not be an area that is lacking in diversity.”  Nevertheless, he was convinced that “we cannot let the issue of the founding of a national park remain stillborn, because the logging of our forests continues unabated and it threatens to wreck large areas of our homeland.”  Despite the efforts of Vilbaste and the Naturalists Society, the issue was “unresolved” when proposed, and it remained so throughout the entire period of pre-Soviet independence.  Lack of adequate funding, increased industrial encroachments, and a greater interest in establishing and maintaining more strict nature preserves took precedence throughout the 1920s and 1930s.



WWII and Stalin’s forced post-war Sovietization of the recently seized Baltic States stifled interest in national parks for another generation.  Estonian scientists and researchers did revive the idea of establishing a national park in the second half of the 1960s, however, partially because the new post-Khrushchev politburo indicated greater tolerance for those who desired to elevate the more decorative aspects of national folk culture.  This period also witnessed broader, all-Soviet scientific debates concerning the best means to satisfy the post-war generation’s growing demand for more active recreational outdoor activities.  As the USSR’s increasingly urbanized population began to stream into its zapovedniki – inviolable nature reserves – in order to experience “pristine” land first-hand, the empire’s scientists took alarm.  Fearing the institutionalization of recreational geography and the negative impact that tourists might have on nature preserves, Andrei Grigor’evich Bannikov, the USSR’s “official regime spokesperson for nature protection,” began to lobby for the creation of a new series of nature parks as a means to reduce the human impact on zapovedniki.  In his view, zapovedniki should continue to remain off-limits to tourists, but alongside them should be created more accessible nature and national parks.  Other Russian scientists, such as Nikolai Fedorovich Reimers and Feliks Robertovich Shtil’mark, chose to view the Soviet tourist as a potential ally in the struggle to preserve threatened territory.  They supported the concept of the national park as a further means to protect the USSR’s natural diversity, but only when such parks were not established at the expense of, or through the conversion of, zapovedniki.



It is clear that although Russian conservationists were also discussing the merits of national parks, Estonian enthusiasts were the swiftest to turn thought into deed.  Certainly, several renowned Estonian scientists did share some of Bannikov’s concerns about the possible negative consequences of national parks.  The Estonian biologist Viktor Masing, for example, was also concerned that new national parks would detract from the greater need for natural parks and zapovedniki.  Having long been a great admirer and researcher of Estonia’s oldest landscapes, i.e., its bogs and their unique ecosystems, Masing consistently held that seeking their protection was, in the words of one admirer, “a spiritual diversion” that was thrust upon society.  He believed, as did many of his conservationist forerunners, that a nation’s cultural level is reliably indicated by its level of nature protection and conservation.  Masing therefore tirelessly sought to employ the best scientific data to attain greater protection via natural, not national parks.  Decades of intensive research enabled him to present his case for bog preservation so effectively that in 1981, ten years after Lahemaa National Park was created, thirty marshland areas were declared nature preserves in Estonia, an act that laid the foundation for mire protection in the entirety of the USSR.
  In hindsight, even though Masing’s stricter approach toward nature protection led to a greater amount of Estonian land gaining state protection than that gained by the national park promoters, the small republic itself benefited by the dual approach to nature protection.             



It should come as little surprise that the conception of Lahemaa National Park differed from that previously envisioned by Borodin or the Tartu Naturalists Society, especially when one considers that concern for nation even factored into Masing's more scientifically grounded arguments for nature parks.  Estonia's Brezhnev era preservationists now proposed that Lahemaa (the land of bays) National Park should “represent features which are especially typical of our country and national culture [my emphasis].”
  Indeed, such a goal was even explicitly stated in the park’s founding statute:



Lahemaa National Park’s primary goals and tasks consist of the following:



1) to protect and preserve nature in the national park, especially the larger 



natural associations (forests, bog systems, and others), particularly 



noteworthy natural objects (alvars,
 stone fields, rare plants and animals, etc.), cultural landscapes together with historical and cultural monuments, 



as well as ethnographically and architecturally worthy buildings and structures;



2) to organize and conduct scientific research of ecosystems and regions of cultural merit, by employing responsible scientific institutions for this purpose, and to establish for them the necessary base for research;



3) to acquaint the park’s visitors with nature and noteworthy sites, with local inhabitants and the historical development of their relationship with nature, and with the actual issues of environmental protection;



4) to help in the development of our youth by getting them acquainted with the nature of their native home (kodupaik), with the people’s revolutionary past, and with issues of cultural values and environmental protection;



5) to preserve specials regions within the park in conditions of pristine natural conditions for the observance and research of natural processes;



6) to help in providing vacation opportunities for visiting workers in certain anticipated places.



If one were to exclude the brief nod to Soviet authority by the mention of “the people’s revolutionary past” and “visiting workers” from the goals enumerated above, the park’s founding statute would read as if it were written by cultural nationalists as much as it was by naturalists.
  And indeed, it was.




Clearly, Lahemaa National Park served a function more to preserve Estonia's cultural heritage from massive Slavo-Soviet immigration pressures than to protect a specifically threatened natural environment.
  After all, many of the park's “noteworthy objects,” such as its glacial erratic boulders, flora, and fauna, already enjoyed protected status under the republic's 1957 nature protection law, but the surrounding built environment – that is, the larger cultural context – did not.  Official National Park status confirmed this added protection that was so desired.  And researchers indeed found traces of the human influence on Lahemaa’s natural world to have been “very remarkable,” in part because the territory had been populated “since time immemorial.”  Unlike the concerns Ivan Borodin expressed two generations earlier, the park’s Soviet-era promoters and researchers (often one and the same) perceived the human imprint as a benefit rather than detriment to the park.  As Felix Nõmmsalu, one of the park’s founding members remarked in 1981, "It is not only various aspects of nature that are researched and protected at Lahemaa National Park, but also sites and objects which bear significance from the viewpoints of history, culture, ethnography, and architecture; in short, all that demonstrates human relations with nature.”  This research, he suggested, “aids the schools and universities in the sphere of education as well."
 




Specialists conducted extensive archeological surveys in the early years of the park and thereby helped to reveal many of Lahemaa’s abundant scientific and cultural treasures.  For here researchers found Estonia’s greatest concentration of stone chest burial mounds (picturesque ritualistic sites that were discovered to be over two millennia old), several ancient fortified strongholds, and other archeological finds which dated back as far as the Neolithic Age.
  Due to the region’s long history of settlement and land tenure, specialists suggested that it was “particularly in Lahemaa” where one could find “the most diverse picture of the development of agriculture and folk culture” characteristic of Estonia.  The park also held vivid reminders of Estonia’s more recent history, for near Lahemaa’s incongruously ornate Palmse manor, one also encounters dozens of curious stone piles.  Known as “Piles of Hunger” (“Näljakangurd”), these cairns spoke of a 1695-97 famine in which starving peasants earned grain by clearing the Baltic German baron’s fields of rocks.
  Students working in the park in 1972 transformed the park’s appearance in a similar manner, but their motivation was whimsical by comparison.  They began a so-called “Pyramid of Happiness” (“Õnnekivipüramiid”) in the scenic seaside hamlet of Altja, to which every visitor was expected to contribute one stone.
 



Despite numerous other examples of humans having shaped and transformed Lahemaa’s natural world, the territory of the park still remained one of Estonia’s most pristine natural environments.  Indeed, the area has remained sparsely populated throughout the centuries, and the dispersal of its settlements has changed little since the Middle Ages.  In 1980, for example, Lahemaa’s average population density was but one-third of that for Estonia as a whole.  The park was therefore ideally suited to serve the goal of instilling a perceived harmony between humans and nature, all the more so since its four distinct “physical-geographical regions” represented “one of the most characteristic and diverse natural landscapes in Estonia.”  Estonians from any region of the country could discern something familiar, something local, in the park.
  



Lahemaa also had remarkable biological diversity, and it was this fact that first garnered the attention of the republic’s scientists.  The park’s territory included ten rivers and brooks that were important habitats for spawning salmon and trout, it was comparatively rich in bird life due to its thick forests, and brown bear and lynx – two species that had become nearly extinct in Western Europe – were commonly found here.  The territory of the proposed park therefore certainly offered a “vivid survey of the northernmost feature of Estonian nature,” but planned growth of recreational facilities and new summer cottages in the 1970s, as well as widespread forest drainage and land reclamation projects, threatened both Lahemaa’s biological and landscape diversity.  Eager to prevent further degradation of the area, scientists conducted research work in the late 1960s, and their concerted push in 1968-69 defined the future park’s boundaries.  On 1 June 1971, the Estonian Soviet Socialist Republic’s (ESSR) Council of Ministers gave the final approval to found the 644 square kilometer park, the size of which amounted to almost one and one-half percent of the republic’s entire territory.
  An appropriate ratio in the United States would require, for example, that the entire state of Florida be declared a national park. (Fig. 1)



Creating such an extensive park, let alone a national park, was anything but a simple process during the Brezhnev era.  Fortunately Edgar Tõnurist, the First Deputy Chairman of the Estonian SSR Council of Ministers (1961-79), was one of the primary initiators of the idea to establish Lahemaa as a national park.  Known as “a great speaker for the fatherland [isamaa]” already early in his career, this well-connected agronomist suggested that Lahemaa National Park could “be one of those good examples of our socialist way.”
  In his desire to set a “good example,”



Tõnurist simultaneously conceived of the founding of the Estonian Nature Protection Society (Eesti Looduskaitse Selts-ELS) and Lahemaa National Park while serving as the ECP's Minister of Agriculture (1953-61).  According to Juhan Telgmaa, a later ELS chairman, even though the society was dominated by its early chairman, Jaan Eilart, “without Tõnurist [chairman 1966-81] and his great spirit, his statesman-like wisdom and artfulness of negotiating in difficult times, nothing at all would have been accomplished.”
  Already early in his professional career, then, Tõnurist displayed remarkable political skills, and when he combined his talents with Eilart’s tireless publicizing, the Estonian Nature Protection Society developed into the strongest such organization in the entire USSR.  Together with the help of hundreds of volunteer preservationists who joined the ELS, Tõnurist and Eilart managed to carry out joint work between the official Estonian SSR government and industries and individuals interested in fields as diverse as agriculture, forestry, groundwater, hunting, landscaping, nature preserves, folk life, and folk culture.
  



Many who worked with Tõnurist in this era praised his drive to create the park and preserve what he held to be essential elements of Estonian culture.  They recall how he immediately began to cultivate support for the park amidst the new political opportunities unleashed by Nikita Khrushchev’s 1956 ‘Secret Speech.’  Fifteen years after the park opened, Juhan Niisuke, Estonia’s chairman of the Commission for Nature Protection and the Rational Use of Natural Resources, stated flatly that Lahemaa “play[ed] an enormous role in raising the ecological consciousness of our population.”
  Niisuke was correct to emphasize the significance that this park played in Estonians’ environmental and national strivings, but had it not been for shrewd and determined Soviet-era Estonian politicians such as Edgar Tõnurist, the park would never have been created in the first place.  As one of Tõnurist’s admirers wrote five years after Estonia restored its independence, the Deputy Chairman “redeemed the offended Estonian nation” by his successful efforts to found this park, laying as he did the first steps for “a new awakening age” for Estonians.
  And even though the chances of founding a national park on a republic level of the USSR seemed insurmountable at the time, Tõnurist’s stubborn diplomacy paid wonderful dividends in the long term.  According to Tõnurist’s wife Sonja, Karl Vaino, the secretary of the ECP's Central Committee, was firmly opposed to Edgar’s idea of the park.  As Sonja recalled years later, “They brawled over this for half a decade,” after which an exasperated Vaino finally conceded with words of disgust: “Let them have a national park.  I’m fed up with them.”
  


Gaining permission from the reluctant Vaino was one matter, but Tõnurist still needed to win the support of numerous other opponents, including Johannes Käbin, the First Secretary of the ECP himself.  In the rare instances where his diplomatic skills failed, Tõnurist was bold enough to use alternative means to achieve his goals.  When he encountered powerful “kolkhoz men” who refused to voluntarily release funds to restore dilapidated manors, for example, including that for the majestic Palmse manor – to be transformed into the headquarters of the national park – he simply appropriated the money himself from their operating budget.
  Yet even though Tõnurist was willing to seek non-traditional means to finance his projects, and even though he   possessed remarkable “artfulness” when dealing with delicate terms such as “nationalism” and its “alarmingly negative connotations,” he never was an outspoken critic of the Soviet regime.  To the contrary, according to Siim Kallas, many Estonian associates “assailed him for several strategic choices which were in our view were counter to Estonian interests.  He [Tõnurist] replied that dealing with leadership in our preferred manner would be crazy.”
  More often than not, Tõnurist was able to co-opt those Estonians whose desire to protect their nation’s national environment was stronger than their opposition to his perceived conciliatory politics.  



Tõnurist’s work for the park did not stop once the park was established: he organized and led a comprehensive inventory of the park’s natural and cultural treasures in 1973 in which about one hundred specialists from the natural sciences, history, architecture and folklore joined him in this research.  Tõnurist clearly treasured Lahemaa’s folklore, history, and natural wonders, therefore he seemed to be doubly troubled by a dilemma that he felt plagued the park from its very inception.  “The main problem” facing Lahemaa, he wrote, “is whether the national park can accomplish its main functions with the increasing pressure of human activity, in a time when the urbanized population needs increasingly greater resting-places to expel the negative conditions of an artificial surrounding."  Tõnurist and his assistants addressed this issue by transforming Lahemaa into something that resembled folk art on a grand scale, into a “ceremonial landscape.”
  And like art that is housed in a museum for public enjoyment, Lahemaa National Park became an “open-air museum” in which visitors were invited to explore its folk art – and its folk nature – at their leisure.  Visitor centers, guest houses, closely regulated campsites, and newly built trails through bog and forest all ensured that even this enormous museum could direct visitors’ attention to the art that the park’s administrators chose to emphasize.
  



As detailed in the park’s founding statute, officials desired that Lahemaa should highlight both the Estonian folk and Estonian nature.  This dual emphasis had great implications for how visitors perceived the park, nay, museum.  The great art historian Kenneth Clark once noted that however intense one’s initial impression of an object might be, it is a fleeting perception unless some other reason keeps the eye focused on the object.  “Other reasons” that could come into play, he suggested, might include history, memories, hallowed events, or structure and design.  And it is in this sense that many of the sites in Lahemaa National Park might have come to mean so much more to ethnic Estonians – or to Russians steeped in Estonian culture – than they did to most of the republic’s post-war immigrants.  For the park spoke most directly to and of Estonian culture, and this remained a culture largely alien to (and ignored by) the republic’s more recent Slavo-Soviet arrivals.
  The impression that the park’s numerous large glacial erratic boulders might have instilled in the newcomers, for example, was more likely to be fleeting, since they were not raised with Estonian folklore and legends that “explained” the boulders’ incongruous appearance amidst low lying bogs or flat forests.
 



Expressing remarkably similar views to those of his contemporary Gustav Vilbaste, the great American landscape photographer Ansel Adams once penned revealing words about one of Yosemite National Park’s most recognizable and cherished features.  “In the last analysis,” noted Adams, “Half Dome is just a piece of rock.”  But, he continued, “There is some deep personal distillation of spirit and concept which moulds these earthly facts into some transcendental emotional and spiritual experience.”  Similarly, no matter how unextraordinary or even trivial individual features of Lahemaa National Park might have seemed to some visitors, the park nevertheless held a special place in Estonian imagination.  Its landscape was peppered with the country’s greatest concentration of noteworthy glacial erratic boulders, for example, and the Jaani Tooma boulder itself – "one of the wonders of Lahemaa" – became “a recognizable symbol of the park.” (Fig. 2)  Because Estonian preservationists held that "the abundance of boulders remains one of the most characteristic features of our northern landscape," it was particularly here in Lahemaa that erratics were said to "radiate the warmth of a domestic hearth and carry the smell of our native land."  But for an American accustomed to the enormous granite walls of Yosemite, or a Russian familiar with massive mountain vistas in the Caucasus or Pamirs, for example, Lahemaa’s boulders are likely to be viewed as little more than quaint geological curiosities.
  




In contrast, the boulders meant a great deal to Estonians.  They reified a sense the nation had of its unique culture, particularly since the objects had now become officially displayed items in an “open-air museum.”  The appeal of nature is relative.  As Herbert Viiding states, “Naturally we don’t find such enormous natural landscape objects as in America…We do have, however, several unique and scientifically interesting geological monuments for which we were bound by honor for future generations to place under protection.”  Honor bound, Viiding succeeded in establishing a “glacial erratic open air museum” in the quaint seaside hamlet of Altja.
  



Due to the efforts of Tõnurist, Viiding, and others, glacial erratic boulders became Estonians’ physical and spiritual equivalents of Half Dome, and Lahemaa became their Yosemite. Other union republics noted the park’s success and shared in its goal of cultural preservation as well.  Indeed, Lahemaa served as a model for the creation of similar parks throughout the USSR, first and most notably in Estonia’s equally nationalistically-inclined sister Baltic Republics of Latvia and Lithuania.  And just as in Lahemaa, Latvia’s preservationists also emphasized the importance of place and belonging throughout the period of Soviet occupation.  Latvian forestry officials, for example, stressed the need for forest rangers to live in the region of their work in order to cultivate close contacts with local residents.  The forestry workers themselves are currently wont to describe their ministry as having been “the most Latvian” during the Soviet era, a fact to which the concept of place figures prominently.  That is, Latvian officials strove to transform the forestry worker into a forest resident, into a saimnieks – an emotive Latvian word similar to ‘manager’ or perhaps ‘steward’ – whose “valorized status” would be lost were he to live “somewhere in town.”
  Yet even if Lahemaa were not to have been singled out for recognition and emulation by Estonia’s fellow Soviet republics, the park’s promoters would have been aware of Lahemaa’s special significance.  Edgar Tõnurist stressed the particular onus that came with innovation: “Being the first in the Soviet Union,” he noted, “we have to make efforts as pioneers to justify the necessity of particular nature conservation areas here."
  


If emulation is any measure of success, Estonians did “justify” their efforts.  For within twenty years of Lahemaa’s creation, the USSR had twenty-six new National Parks.  According to Felix Nõmmsalu, the practical experience gained at Lahemaa also assisted in the planning work for several other national parks in the Soviet Union.  Such “widespread interest in the creation of national parks,” he found, was “the outcome of the understanding that they are not only a means for passive preservation of nature, but even more, they are a means for generating and fostering a mentality sympathetic to nature preservation in general."  Nõmmsalu did not explicitly state that “nature preservation in general” included preservation of human relationships with the natural world, but this is what he and his fellow park promoters envisioned.  Indeed, Lahemaa National Park was conceived to represent what Leo Marx would have termed “the middle landscape” that was the Estonian countryside.  When viewed through the lens of agrarian myth, it became “the ideal middle world of man poised between the polarities of city and wilderness."  And it was this “ideal middle world” that the park’s founders most desired to speak of Estonian culture.
  



Similarly, when analyzing the place of Yosemite National Park in American culture, Kenneth Olwig once suggested, "National parks would seem to be as much about the nature of national identity as about physical nature."
  Jaan Eilart, one of Lahemaa's founding fathers, confirmed this in no uncertain terms in the Estonian context as well: "The park had everything to do with Estonians and their culture and nothing to do with nature."
  But the Estonian culture Eilart sought to protect was a traditional peasant culture intimately tied to the land.  Thus, despite his contention to the contrary, the park was about nature too.  It was a place where the natural and built environments served as congenial compliments to one another, and where the contrast with nearby examples of Soviet environmental degradation at the Kohtla-Järve oil-shale mines or the Kunda cement factory could not have been starker.
  Francis Younghusband’s observation that a landscape is bearable only in two cases: “When Man has not been there, and when he has succeeded in creating harmony within the landscape,” brings to mind the harmony Estonians found in their pre-Soviet landscape of Lahemaa.  There one frequently encounters “Monuments of Nature,” such as ancient bogs or glacial erratic boulders.  Often situated near humble human structures or ancient ancestral villages, the monuments harkened back to an era that contemporary Estonians embraced as representing a simpler, less promethean – indeed, less Soviet – relationship to nature.



Yet it was only through the persistent labors of committed individuals that Lahemaa National Park became a reality at all.  Indeed, because Party ideologues suspected the National Park might support or encourage Estonian national strivings (which it ultimately did), official opposition to the concept remained stiff.  The Soviet government refused to provide funds for such a potentially subversive idea, therefore it was not until Edgar Tõnurist managed to find alternative funding sources (from various republic-level ministries such as Forestry, Nature Protection, and Light Industry) that the park could move beyond the drawing board.  After funding issues were resolved to the satisfaction of Estonia’s republican-level Party officials, the final sticking point appeared to be that of the park’s designation.  That is, the ECP's First Secretary (1950-78), Johannes Käbin, repeatedly tried to convince Tõnurist to designate the park a Nature Park (looduspark) rather than a National Park (rahvuspark).  The latter refused to concede the point, and Käbin ultimately agreed to the idea of a rahvuspark, feeling secure enough under the cover of Lenin’s 1921 decree on national parks.



Lahemaa did quickly become a shaped, rendered and beloved place not merely for the park's founders, but for the entire Estonian nation.  By the mid 1980s, for example, an estimated 200,000 tourists annually visited the park, a figure that approximates one fifth of all Estonians.
  The park’s founders therefore successfully created a dual-purpose park.  On the one hand, they established Lahemaa National Park as a means to protect the region’s diverse but threatened natural world.  On the other hand, they conceived of the park as a museum in which it would be possible to preserve and display the real or perceived harmony they found in the built world of its human inhabitants – in particular, its ancestral Estonian inhabitants.



The quest for ways to express harmony between a nation and the natural world, i.e., with its national landscape, is hardly unique to Estonian history.  In many ways, modern Estonia's attempt to define or imagine the nation by its creation of a national park while still under Soviet domination closely parallels fin de siècle Swedish idealization of peasant village life in Dalecarlia.  Both countries looked to peasant village rural life to express what was unique to the nation and yet typical of it: both celebrated the built and natural environment, song and folklore of peasants.
  In so doing, however, cultural nationalists acted in a manner similar to a typical nature lover visiting Island County, Washington, as described by the historian Richard White.  There one "approached the natural world as if he sought to furnish the island much as he would his living room, including what he liked, discarding what he didn't."
  What Lahemaa's founders liked was Estonian, rural, and older; what they didn't was non-Estonian (typically Soviet), more urban, and modern. 



If one were to merely glance at a map of the park, the port town of Loksa would appear as an incongruous exclave.  But when a closer on-site survey reveals the shabby prefabricated apartment blocks and crumbling chunks of concrete in this heavily Slavicized and Sovietized town, one realizes this was far from the cultural image that the park’s founders wished to project about Estonia.
  Loksa spoke more of Moscow than it did of Tallinn.  Indeed, Moscow intended to transform Loksa even further when in 1988 it called for the establishment of a ship repair and pontoon shop in the small town.  Stiff resistance from Estonia’s Forestry and Nature Protection Ministries, as well as from the republic’s glasnost-emboldened press, challenged Moscow’s ill-conceived plans.  The journalist Juhan Aare took the lead in criticizing the latest plan for Loksa as yet another “economic/geographic exercise of the absurd,” calling as it did for steel imports from distant Ukraine and the immigration of workers from many regions of the Soviet Union.  Aare spoke directly to his perestroika-emboldened compatriots: “Let us ask – why establish such a workshop specifically here in Loksa, in the heart of Lahemaa National Park?  Is it to show the residents of Lahemaa’s rather pleasant little market towns how to create a small town with polluted nature, tattered concrete and sharp social tensions?”  This feared development was never realized, but a guidebook written a decade after Aare’s complaint bemoans the legacy of other Soviet projects that Lahemaa’s promoters could not keep at bay: “Today’s Loksa undoubtedly influences Lahemaa as if it were a virus.  The image of its overly large and industrialized center in the heart of the park was connected with the general politics of Soviet power.”  Unfortunately, the guide continues, “It will take a very long time to heal this wound.”
  



The quaint and unimposing seaside fishing settlement of Altja stands in sharp contrast to Loksa, therefore it is not surprising that this hamlet became a treasured tourist destination located entirely within the park’s boundaries.  With a history reaching back to the second half of the fifteenth century, Altja spoke of the hard lives of Estonia’s fisherfolk.  The hamlet – limited to some twelve households by the mid-nineteenth century and reaching only twenty households by the eve of WWII – was always a quiet and unpretentious settlement.  This fact did nothing to spare Altja the turmoil of the twentieth century, however.  War, collectivization of agriculture, deportation, and Siberian exile all took their toll on Altja.  Indeed, the village’s present population of twenty-seven is but one-sixth that of its prewar peak.  In 1950 Soviet authorities made the hard lot of Altja’s residents even more difficult to bear.  They sealed off the coast with barbed wire, confiscated the villagers’ boats and fishing nets, and effectively extinguished any livelihood the people once gained by fishing.  In many places, the victorious Soviet troops who were stationed in Estonia (estimated at between 100,000 – 120,000 in the late 1940s) cleared civilian populations along the republic’s coast to a depth of three to five kilometers.  Powerful klieg lights, barbed wire, and beach patrols replaced fishing boats and their crews.  Some fishermen were allowed to remain in coastal areas, but their movements were regulated to such a degree that they were required to obtain special permits to visit even neighboring villages.  In consequence, village life also stultified, and Altja fell under the gloom of Soviet paranoia.
  



Until 1971, that is.  For the creation of Lahemaa National Park revivified Altja.  Indeed, without a prior knowledge of the village’s tragic past, today’s visitor is unlikely to guess that two residents with “age old ties to the region” actually reconstructed most of “old Altja” during the early years of the park.  Among the first to participate in the park’s workers’ collective, the builders Kaarl Kuutma and Karl Vainsalu promised, “we will build Altja village just as it was in older times, so that it might be a model for Lahemaa.”  The carpenters then reconstructed a working threshing barn, a barn for livestock, a granary, a sauna, pubs, and distinctive fences to make the village feel “genuine.”  Postwar collectivization had also destroyed the scenic and traditional sheds that once dotted Altja’s coastline.  Originally erected to protect the fishermen’s nets, they too were rebuilt and adorned with old-fashioned – but no longer used – “fishing” nets in order to lend an air of authenticity to the seaside hamlet.  As Feliks Nõmmsalu noted, the living quarters surrounding the farmland also “carried the spirit of the previous century.”
  



Altja’s new life projected a powerful statement.  More was built (or re-built) here than physical structures alone.  For example, the 1972 restoration of a large village swing on a nearby hill revived the older spirit of Altja’s famed Jaaniöö (St. John’s Eve) celebrations.  In 1973, all of Altja’s residents, some guests from neighboring villages, and even some from afar, gathered at the swing to celebrate.  There, a park researcher suggested in 1977, “the bonfire, songs sung on the swing, and folk dances all give living proof that the nation cherishes its ancient traditions.”
  Lahemaa’s cultural nationalists did indeed breathe life back into the village, but they also greatly transformed it.  The Lahemaa historian Enn Tarvel may be correct to insist that “Altja is not an open-air museum, but a village, where life continues,” yet it no longer remained the village it once was.
  The new “old Altja” was transformed into an idealized Estonian village, one in seeming perfect harmony with nature.  So alluring was the revivified hamlet that the Estonian Communist Party dignitary and park founder Edgar Tõnurist chose to live there in retirement.
  The village was a world apart from the drab, heavily industrialized oil-shale town of Kohtla-Järve, located a mere seventy kilometers to the southeast.  And it had lessons the entire Estonian nation desired to teach to their Soviet masters.



Whether the founders of Lahemaa National Park considered themselves Estonian nationalists or not is largely an irrelevant question, for the fact remains that the park they created spoke more forcefully for Estonian culture and the Estonian rahvas than it did of Soviet culture and an intensively modernizing worldview.  The era in which Lahemaa was established as a national park witnessed a temporary truce between these two inherently opposed ideologies, with the latter hoping to co-opt the energies of the former.  That is, a long-standing all-Soviet ideology held that triumphant human – but distinctly promethean – endeavors would prevail in the longue durée over the organic and the old, whereas a more nationalistically tinged ideology sought to elevate and preserve the regional, the natural, and the ancestral.  Such a truce between two profoundly distinct worldviews could be nothing other than temporary, of course, and the collapse of the Soviet Union in 1991 ensured that, at least for the foreseeable future, Estonia’s Lahemaa National Park would continue to represent the diminutive republic’s national history via its natural history, no matter how contrived or imagined either might be.  
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Fig. 1.  Lahemaa between the mining centers.  Source: Atlas SSSR, 1983. 
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Fig. 2.  The Jaani Tooma boulder, a “recognizable symbol” of Lahemaa National Park.  Drawing by Gregor von Helmerson, 1882.  Source: Gregor von Helmersen, “Studien über die Wanderblöcke und die Diluvialgebilde Russlands,” Memoires de L’Academie Imperiale des Sciences de St. –Petersbourg, VII E Serie, Tome XXX, 1882, No. 5, 56.



� In 1989 Estonia comprised only 0.2 percent of the territory of the USSR and less than 0.6 percent of its population of 286 million.  The republic’s diminutive size may have helped ease Soviet concerns about tolerating experimental politics in the region, for, in theory, any reforms that might get out of hand could be more easily squelched there than, for instance, in the much larger Ukranian Republic.




� Joan Didion, The White Album (New York: Farrar, Straus, and Giroux, 1986), 146.  Epner was the director of Lahemaa National Park in 1986.  He is buried in the park’s serenely pastoral and wooded Ilumäe (Beautiful Hill) Cemetery.  When I visited the site late on a May evening in 2002, the only grave in the entire cemetery with a burning candle was Epner’s.  See Ilmar Epner, "15 aastat Lahemaa Rahvusparkii," Sotsialistlik Põllumajandus 18, (1986): 38.  Unfortunately, not all Lahemaa residents shared Epner’s veneration of the park and its treasures.  On 14 May 2002, e.g., Postimees (Tartu, Estonia) reported that one of the park’s landowners sold some of its timbered land from which the new owner promptly, and illegally, harvested some 6,000 trees.  The fact that this story occupied almost the entire front page of Postimees, Estonia’s largest daily, does, I suggest, speak of the general outrage about the action.  See also fn. 57.   




� I am indebted to an anonymous reviewer of this article for the astute comments regarding Estonia’s “indigestibility.”  




4 See, e.g., Anthony Smith, Nationalism and Modernism (London: Routledge Press, 1988), 47-48.  A remarkable 1969 editorial in Kommunist, the Communist Party of the Soviet Union’s (CPSU) theoretical journal, hinted that party ideologues themselves recognized the difficulty in achieving this goal, even if ultimate victory was still being posited as historically inevitable: “Each Soviet nation and nationality brings its own significant contribution to the successful construction of the new community.  In the process of creating communism, they achieve widespread prosperity and ever closer rapprochement with one another.  For all nations the common characteristics increase in all spheres of the material and spiritual life of the Soviet people.  However, the rapprochement of nations and their international unity should not be viewed as a merger.  The elimination of all national differences is a long process, and it is possible only after the complete victory and consolidation of communism in the entire world.”  “Torzhestvo leninskoi natsional’noi politiki,” Kommunist, No. 13, (April, 1969): 10.




� The term “modernization” in this context does not describe an essential process.  Rather, as Dean Tipps notes, once the term is “stripped of its scientific pretensions, the concept of modernization becomes little more than a classificatory device distinguishing processes of social change deemed ‘progressive’ from those which are not.”  Because diverse aspects of the modernization process tend to aggregate at the national level, and because “both critics and advocates alike tend to assume the basic utility of the idea of modernization itself,” Tipps concludes that “the greatest areas of agreement tend to be on those points which are most superficial.”  As such, “there is general agreement that whatever else it may be, modernization is a type of social change which is both transformational in its impact and progressive in its effects.”  Dean C. Tipps, “Modernization Theory and the Comparative Study of Societies: A Critical Perspective,” Comparative Studies in Society and History, Vol. 15, No. 2 (Mar., 1973), 199-226.  




� Brezhnev’s policy stood in sharp contrast to that of Nikita Khrushchev, a devout adherent to Soviet prometheanism.  See, e.g., John Dunlop, The Faces of Contemporary Russian Nationalism (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1983), 83-84 and passim.




� Edgar Kask, “Lahemaa Rahvuspark 25 – olla  või,” Eesti Loodus, May/June, 1996




� M. Taagepera, “Ecological Problems in Estonia,” Journal of Baltic Studies (No. 4, 1983): 307.




� I. P. Borodin, “Okhrana pamiatnikov prirody,” Trudy Botanicheskago sada Iur'evskgo universiteta, T. XI, Vyp. 4 (1910), 298-299.




� More often than not, however, as Rein Taagepera rightly asserts, “As for activities of the Kulturträger for the benefit of the indigenous peoples, they all too often boiled down to taxes, booze, and learning one’s place at the bottom of the conqueror’s social ladder.”  Rein Taagepera, The Finno-Ugric Republics and the Russian State, ix.  For more on Baltic German contributions to later developed Estonian landscape practices, see Robert Smurr’s unpublished doctoral dissertation, Perceptions of Nature, Expressions of Nation: An Environmental History of Estonia, University of Washington, 2002.  For more on Baltic singing traditions and institutions, see the unpublished doctoral dissertation by Guntis Smidchens, A Baltic Music: The Folklore Movement in Lithuania, Latvia, Estonia, 1968-1991, Folklore Institute, Indiana University, 1996.




� The concept of an “Estophile activity” based on Herder’s agitation I take directly from Ea Jansen’s fine analysis in “Eestlaste rahvuslik ärkamisaeg,” Eesti identiteet ja iseseisvus, p. 90.




� Joachim Wolschke-Bulmahn, “The Nationalization of Nature and the Naturalization of the German Nation: ‘Teutonic’ Trends in Early Twentieth-Century Landscape Design,” in Wolschke-Bulmahn, ed., Nature and Ideology: Natural Garden Design in the Twentieth Century (Dumbarton Oaks Research Library, 1997), 196 & 199.




� G. L. Mosse, Fallen Soldiers: Reshaping the Memory of the World Wars (New York, 1992), 89.




� Kreutzwald as cited in Ian Eilart, “Kraevedenie i okhrana prirody,” Ianits, ed., O kraevedcheskoi rabote v Estonskoi SSR, (Tallinn, 1964), 64.




� “Eesti rahvusliku pargi asutamise küsimus,” Loodus (May 1923), 173.  Paasvere is located in Virumaa, a region of northeast Estonia that later suffered enormous environmental devastation from careless oil shale and phosphorite mining.  G. Vilberg [Vilbaste], "Rahvuslik park ja looduskaitse," Postimees, 24 October 1923 (284).   In 1921 the naturalist J. Piiper also researched some thirty square kilometers of the Paasvere forest, but found the new Sonda-Mustvee railroad to have degraded its biological worth.  See, e.g., E. Varep, "Looduskaitse küsimusi Eesti NSV-s," Loodusuurijate Seltsi Aastaraamat, 1955 (1955), 80.




� For more on Bannikov, Shtil’mark, and the concept of the zapovednik, see Douglas Weiner, A Little Corner of Freedom (1999), esp. 394-399.




� Martin Zobel, “Viktor Masinguga teoreetilist ökoloogiat avastamas,” Eesti Loodus (Nr. 2005/4); Masing c.v.: � HYPERLINK "http://www.botany.ut.ee/viktor.masing/cv.html" ��http://www.botany.ut.ee/viktor.masing/cv.html�; Eesti Teaduste Akadeemia 200 yearbook, Masing, Viktor.




� Arne Kaasik, "Development of Lahemaa National Park,” Estonia Maritima 3 (1988): 171.




� An alvar (lood) is a limestone region characteristically covered by thin soil and stunted vegetation.




� “Lahemaa Rahvuspargi põhimäärus,” ENSV Teataja 1971, (1989 Rakvere, nr. 26, art. 285).




� Here I am using Anthony Smith’s definition of ‘cultural nationalists’ as those who believe “the nation is a primordial expression of the individuality and the creative force of nature.  Like families, nations are natural solidarities, they evolve in the manner, so to speak, of organic beings and living personalities.”  Smith finds it was under Johann Gottfried Herder’s influence that this type of nationalism “took root” especially in Eastern Europe.  See Smith, Nationalism and Modernism, 178.




� Estonians accounted for 88.2 percent of the republic’s population in 1934, 68.2 percent in 1970, and 61.5 percent in 1989.  Comparative statistics for Slavic residents are: 8.2 percent; 28.1 percent; and 35.2 percent.  An overwhelming number of the newer Slavo-Soviet immigrants settled in Estonia’s northeast to work in the notoriously polluting oil shale and phosphorite mining industries.  Between 1945 and 1988 the total number of non-Estonians increased by twenty-six times (relying on a base figure of 23,000 non-Estonians in January 1945 and 602,000 in January 1989).  See Aksel Kirch and Marika Kirch, “Kuidas jõuda kultuuriautonoomiani Eestis?” Poliitika (1991, No. 9): 67; and Toivo U. Raun, “Ethnic Relations and Conflict in the Baltic States,” Ethnic Nationalism and Regional Conflict, Duncan and Holman, eds., (Boulder: Westview Press, 1994), 158 & 160.




�    E. F. Varep,  "O naselenii v Lakhemaaskom natsional'nom parke," in V. Masing, ed., Lakhemaaskii Natsional'nyi Park, ego uchrezhdenie i deiatel’nost’ (Tartu: Tartu Riikliku Ülikooli Toimetised, 1982), 42 & 51;  F. Nõmmsalu, (First Deputy of the ENSV Ministry of Forestry and Nature Protection) "Rahvusparkide rahvusvahelistest kontseptsioonidest ja nende organiseerimise praktikast," Lahemaa uurimused, I. (Tallinn: Valgus, 1981), 20.




� Varep,  "O naselenii,” 51; E. Varep, "Man's role in changing the landscapes of Lahemaa National Park," Estonia: Regional Sudies (Tallinn, Estonian Geographical Society, 1976), 127 & 135.  




� Archaeological evidence suggests that there was already some agricultural activity in the Lahemaa region at least 2,500 years ago, one of the oldest such finds in Estonia.  The park has fourteen former German manors within its borders, that at Palmse (owned by the von der Pahlen family from 1677-1923) and another at Kolga are its two largest.  Epner, "15 aastat," 38; and H. Kink, ed., Loodusmälestised 10: Harjumaa, Lahemaa, (Tallinn: Teaduste Akadeemia Kirjastus, 2002), 5.




�  Herbert Viiding, Lahemaa Kivid (Tallinn: Valgus, 1981), 60 & 70.  Whimsical and harmless as its latter-day creators may have originally deemed the pyramid (presently about two meters high and four meters wide), subsequent critics have noted that their practice “has made the open area more vulnerable to erosion by the sea.”  Enn Tarvel and Anne Kurepalu, Altja (Lahemaa National Park: Huma Publishing, 1994), 36.




� Estonia recorded 31.6 inhabitants per square kilometer in 1980, but Lahemaa only 13.7.  See Varep, "Man's role," 134; F. Nymmsalu, Lakhemaaskii natsional’nyi park (Tallinn: Eesti raamat, 1980), 21-22;  A. V. Kaazik, "Lakhemaaskii natsional'nyi park, ego ucherzhdenie," in Masing, ed.  Lakhemaaskii natsional'nyi park, ego uchrezhdenie i deiatel’nost’ (Tartu: Tartu Riikliku Ülikooli Toimetised, 1982), 3; and Arne Kaasik, "Development of Lahemaa National Park," Estonia Maritima 3, (1988): 171.




� Kaasik, “Development,” 171; F. R. Kreutzwaldi nim. Kirjandusmuuseumi Arhiivraamatukogu & Käsikirjade osakond (KMKO), Fund 152 – Gustav Vilbaste M. 80:7, “Märkmeid Kunda ümbruse linnustikust,” 1951; A. Kaasik, The Lahemaa National Park, (Tallinn: Perioodika, 1989), 5 & 9;  Enel’ Sander, “Lakhemaaskii natsional’nyi park kak prirodnyi etalon v bioindikatsionnom issledovanii severnoi Estonii,” Voprosy ukhoda za landshaftom: Prirodookhranitel’nogo prosveshcheniia v Estonskoi SSR.  J. Eilart, ed., (Tartu: Tartuskii Gosudarstvennyi Universitet, 1978), 41-42; Kaasik, "Development," 171.  The Ministry of Forest Management and specialists from the Estonian Nature Protection Section of the Tartu Naturalists Society conducted surveys of Lahemaa from 1968 until its founding in 1971.  According to A. Kaasik, however, even in 1970 the territory of the park was still little studied.  Kaazik, "Lakhemaaskii natsional'nyi park,” 3-5.   




� Rein Ruutsoo,”Vastupanu mitu nägu,”Maaleht, April 20, 2006; E. Tõnurist, "Saateks” Lahemaa uurimused, I (Tallinn: Valgus, 1981), 9-10.




� Peeter Ernits, “Tõnurist ja Eilart – ELSi loojad,” Maaleht, Feb. 11, 2006.  




� So significant were the activities of the ELS, and so well respected were many of its leaders – including Tõnurist, Eilart, and the famed ornithologist Erik Kumari – that some later observers, such as the writer Ülo Tuulik, “personally [saw] in the activity of the ELS also the birth of the national independence movement.”  Juhan Aare, Fosforiidisõda: 1971-1989, Kirilille Kirjastus, Tallinn, 1999, 59.




� Iu. Niisuke, “K garmonii obshchestva i prirody,” Kommunist Estonii (no. 10, 1986), 44.




� Edgar Kask, “Lahemaa Rahvuspark 25 – olla või,” Eesti Loodus, May/June, 1996.




� Peeter Ernits, “Tõnurist ja Eilart – ELSi loojad,” Maaleht, Feb. 11, 2006.




� Ilmar Epner joined Tõnurist in fighting for the restoration of Palmse manor.  See Rein Sikk, “Robert Lepikson ostis Palmse unikaalse mööbli,” Eesti Paevaleht,14 Feb. 1988; “Vägagi Õiged Tähelepanek,” SL Õhtuleht, Feb. 18, 2006.




� Rein Ruutsoo, “Vastupanu mitu nägu,” Maaleht, April 20, 2006.




� Masing, ed.  Lakhemaaskii natsional'nyi park, 4-5.  Contemplating the prevalence of views such as those expressed by Tõnurist, the landscape scholar Ÿrjö Sepänmaa noted, "It is paradoxical that the town, which as a man-made environment should be designed precisely for his needs, has so often failed to fulfill one essential area of value and related needs.  A town-dweller must then seek environmental aesthetic pleasure from untouched nature and from the deserted rural cultural landscape."  See Ÿrjö Sepänmaa, The Beauty of Environment (Helsinki: Suomalainen Tiedeakatemia, 1986), 146. Kenneth Erickson made an astute observation when he examined the role of “ceremonial landscapes” in modern cultures.  Writes Erickson, "Perhaps all preserved and protected areas, even the few ostensibly reserved for science, are essentially ceremonial landscapes.  If this be so, a geographical paradox is close at hand: the few remaining natural landscapes will be products of human decision and protection, and thus, in time, artifacts of culture."  Kenneth A Erickson, "Ceremonial Landscapes of the American West," Landscape (Autumn, 1987, vol. 22, no. 1), 39-47.  




� Lennart Meri, the Estonian Republic’s first post-Soviet president, once described this region of northeastern Estonia as “an open-air geological museum” due to its abundance of glacial erratic boulders and unique limestone formations.  Similarly, the geologist Herbert Viiding described Lahemaa National Park as “a real open-air museum…Due to its abundance of glacial erratic boulders.”  Indeed, the park today still imbues such viewing habits.  For example, a trail from the quaint inland settlement of Oandu follows the scenic Altja Creek for several kilometers through dense forest to the seaside hamlet of Altja.  From there it progresses along the coast of the Gulf of Finland to a nearby “open air museum” of glacial erratic boulders.  See Lennart Meri, “Ubytochnaia pribyl’,” Literaturnaia Gazeta (1 July 1989); and Viiding, Lahemaa Kivid, 3. 




� For more on Clark, see Yi-Fu Tuan, Topophilia: A Study of Environmental Perception, Attitudes, and Values (Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall, Inc.), 94.  To my knowledge, no polls were ever conducted in Soviet Estonia that might have canvassed respondents’ attitudes toward individual natural objects in Lahemaa National Park (or anywhere else in the country, for that matter).  It is even far less likely that such polls, were they to have been taken, would have been delineated by nationality.  Numerous polls and statistics, however, do indicate that the great majority of non-Estonians living in the Soviet Republic had no or very limited proficiency in Estonian.  It is reasonable to extrapolate that a fundamental difference in linguistic competence had great implications for cultural awareness (or lack thereof).  For examples of linguistic statistics and the consequences of the Estonian-Russian linguistic gulf, see Ene Hion, Marju Lauristin, and Peeter Vihalemm, Life-styles in Contemporary Estonia (Tallinn: Perioodika), 1988; Marju Lauristin, Massovaia kommunikatsiia i okhrana sredy (Tallinn: Eesti Raamat, 1987), passim; Toivo Raun, Estonia and the Estonians (Stanford: Hoover Institution Press, 1991), 237; Romuald J. Misiunas and Rein Taagepera, The Baltic States: Years of Dependence, 1940-1990 (Berkeley: University of California Press, 1993), 216-217 & 296-297; Romuald J. Misiunas, “Baltic Nationalism and Soviet Language Policy: From Russification to Constitutional Amendment,” in Henry R. Huttenbach, ed., Soviet Nationality Policies: Ruling Ethnic Groups in the USSR (London: Mansell, 1990), 206-220.  




� Legendary Estonian characters such as the eponymous hero of the national epic, Kalevipoeg, the widely known imp (or devil) Vanapagan (lit., Old Pagan), and Suur Tõll were all believed capable of carrying enormous boulders around the countryside, of throwing them and other objects great distances, of wading across deep bodies of water and leaving their traces across the land.  See E. Laugaste, E. Liiv and E. Normann, Muistendid Suurest Tõllust ja teistest.  Eesti muistendid: Hiiu- ja vägilas- muistendid II; esp. Eesõna and Sissejuhatus; Laugaste, Mustendid vanapaganast; and Friedrich R. Kreutzwald, Kalevipoeg: An Ancient Estonian Tale, trans. George Kurman, 1982.




� Ansel Adams, as quoted in Simon Schama, Landscape and Memory (New York: Alfred Knopf, 1995), 9.  Twenty-five of Lahemaa’s large glacial erratics (including rock fields) are under strict nature protection.  Kink, ed., Loodusmälestised, 24; E. Kask, "Jaani-Tooma Suurkivi," Eesti Loodus (June 1986): 360; H. Viiding, "Lahemaa hiidrahnud ja kivikülvid," Lahemaa uurimused, I (Tallinn: Valgus, 1981), 45; and Aarne Kaasik, Lahemaa Teejuht (Lahemaa National Park: Huma Publishing, 1998), 30.  Viiding, Lahemaa Kivid, 3-11.




� Herbert Viiding, “Eluta Looduse Kaitse Ajaloost Eestis,” Teaduse ajaloo lehekülgi Eestist VI (Tallinn:Valgus, 1986), 6.




� Katrina Schwartz, “Nature, Development and National Identity: The Battle Over Sustainable Forestry in Latvia,” Environmental Politics (Vol. 8, No. 3, Aut. 1999), 105.




� Latvia was the first to follow Estonia’s model by founding the Gauja National Park in 1973.  Lithuania followed the same course when it established the Aukstaitija National Park in 1974.  Nõmmsalu, "Rahvusparkide," 9.




� Philip Pryde, Environmental Resources and Constraints in the Former Soviet Republics (Boulder: Westview Press, 1995), 19; Nõmmsalu, "Rahvusparkide," 20;  Yi-Fu Tuan, Topophilia, 109.  See also Leo Marx, The Machine in the Garden (New York: Oxford University Press, 2000), 5.




� Kenneth R. Olwig, “Reinventing Common Nature: Yosemite and Mt. Rushmore – A Meandering Tale of a Public Nature,” in William Cronon, ed., Uncommon Ground: Toward Reinventing Nature (New York/London: W.W. Norton & Co., 1995), 380.




� Jaan Eilart, interview with author, 12 November 1998, Tartu, Estonia (handwritten notes in possession of author).  Heino Luik, Estonia's former chief environmental minister and founding board member of Lahemaa National Park expressed the same sentiment in an earlier interview.  He went so far as to regret the creation of new national parks in post-Soviet Estonia, claiming that their primarily "natural character" should have no part in a "national" park.  Heino Luik, interview with author, 3 November 1998, Tallinn, Estonia (handwritten notes in possession of author).  Eilart insists, however, that he was in no way inspired by any anti-Soviet sentiment when he conceived the idea for a national park.  He nevertheless concedes that the park eventually did assume that role.




� Kohtla-Järve was the center of Soviet oil shale production in Estonia.  It was notorious for enormously wasteful production and massive environmental despoliation.  The heavily Russified town also captured the essence of a colonial relationship that remained a cornerstone of Russian-Estonian policy, for the gas pipeline that resulted from Kohtla- Järve’s shale mining was first completed to Leningrad (Russia) in 1948 and not extended to Tallinn (Estonia) until 1953.  Similarly polluting and wasteful, the cement operation at Kunda itself was so enormous, and the pollution controls so inadequate, that each year an entire kilogram of dust fell on every square meter of earth within the town.  Antti Roose, Estonia built on Oil shale (Rakvere, Estonia: Virumaa Foundation, 1991), 13-16; Siim Soot, “Estonia,” in Philip R. Pryde, ed., Environmental Resources and Constraints in the Former Soviet Republics (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1992), 101; Phillip R. Pryde, “The environmental basis for ethnic unrest in the Baltic republics,” in John  Massey Stewart, ed., The Soviet environment: problems, policies and politics (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1992), 17; Villibald Raud, Estonia: A Reference Book (New York: The Nordic Press, Inc., 1953), 125; Agu Aarna, Chemical Engineering in the Estonian S.S.R. (Tallinn: Perioodika, 1978), 26-27; Tiit Kallaste, et al., “Ametkondade äri Virumaa elanike arvel,” Noorte Hääl, 9 September 1988.




�  Younghusband as cited in Sepänmaa, The Beauty of Environment, 147; Viiding, Lahemaa Kivid, 3-5; E. Kask, "Jaani-Tooma Suurkivi," Eesti Loodus (June 1986): 360.




� Officially, Moscow recognized national parks only after Russia established its own parks of that designation (the Losinyi Ostrov and Sochynsky National Parks) in 1983.  See Kaasik, "Development of Lahemaa," 172; Kaazik, "Lakhemaaskii natsional'nyi park," 6 & 7; and Kink, Loodusmälestised, 8.  The closely linked Estonian words, rahvas (n. – folk, people, nation, public) and rahvus (n. – nation, nationality; & adj. – national) convey an added sense perceived organic ties between the folk (rahvas) and the nation (rahvus).  




� Here I am using “Estonian” in the ethnic sense.  If we include Russians and others, we reach a ratio closer to one in six.  I have based these statistics on loose estimates reported by the park administration.  In 1987, e.g., Arne Kaasik and Valdur Lahtvee reported approximately 50,000 tourists visited the park on organized tours.  They extrapolate that the number of casual visitors is triple or quadruple that number.  Entry into the park was free, unrestricted, and unmonitored, therefore a precise number of visitors is impossible to determine.  Kaasik reported similar figures for the late 1970s.  See “Rahvuspargis nii ja teisiti,” Eesti Loodus (June 1987): 397.   Most of the park’s visitors were either Estonians or Soviet citizens.  Indeed, although the park had become well known to Finnish conservationists by the late 1970s, Soviet restrictions permitted very few of them to actually visit Lahemaa.  Antti Haapanen, "Partnership in nature conservation between Estonia and Finland," Estonia Maritima 3 (1988): 69-74.




� Orvar Löfgren, "The Nationalization of Culture," Ethnologia Europaea (Vol XIX, 1987): 5-24.  Lahemaa’s coastal area in particular captured the interest of ethnographers due to the significant influence of Finnish in the dialect.  The region was found to be especially “rich in folklore, dances and music.”  This culture was revived in 1976 by Viru Säru, a locally formed song and dance ensemble.  See Varep, "O naselenii," 44; and  Kaazik,  "Lakhemaaskii natsional'nyi park," 6.




� Richard White, Land Use, Environment, and Social Change: The Shaping of Island County, Washington (Seattle: University of Washington Press, 1980), 153.




� Loksa was characterized by “high reproduction, few elderly, and high immigration.”  See U. Liiber, “On the demographic situation of the Estonian small towns and its relationship with the level of social infrastructure,” Estonian Geographical Researches (Tallinn: Estonian Geographical Society, 1988), 127-135.




� Juhan Aare, “Rahva ökoloogiline kontroll,” Noorte Hääl, 1 May 1988; Kaasik, Lahemaa Teejuht, 38.




� In 1944, e.g., thirty-six villagers fled by sea, two died while fighting as volunteers in the Finnish Army against the Soviet Union in 1943-1944, a family of three was deported to Siberia, and most of those left behind departed for cities to look for work.  Tarvel and Kurpalu, Altja, 8; Endel Kareda, Estonia in the Soviet Grip: Life and Conditions Under Soviet Occupation, 1947-1949 (London: Boreas Publishing Co., Ltd., 1949), 8-10.




� Kuutma and Vainsalu, Lakhemaaskii natsional’nyi park, 74; Tarvel and Kurepalu, Altja, 12.  The similarly quaint seaside village of Käsmu now speaks of the most recent past century (i.e., the 20th) and its enduring traces of Soviet domination.  For here in 1993 Aarne Vaik, a Tallinn-born Estonian who claims to have three-hundred year ancestral ties to the village, opened the  Käsmu Maritime Museum in the very same building that housed Soviet border guards until the collapse of the empire.  Today an abandoned guard tower looms just outside the museum, and a large cement pad used to train troops in tracking techniques still elicits visitors’ attention.  According to Vaik, the pad, indented with numerous human and animal footprints, served to aid Soviet border troops in distinguishing the traces left by possible defectors or infiltrators on smoothly raked regional beaches.  Today Vaik prefers to treat the pad, the tower, and broken klieg lights simply as visual reminders of the quotidian absurdities commonplace in a bygone era; he is far more interested in drawing attention to the museum’s collection of photographs and documents that speak of Käsmu’s formidable pre-Soviet maritime tradition.  Aarne Vaik, interview with author, 20 May 2002, Käsmu, Estonia (handwritten notes in possession of author).




� Kuutma and Vainsalu, Lakhemaaskii natsional’nyi park, 77.  See also Tarvel and Kurepalu, Altja, 20. 




� A wonderful example of a well-intentioned change was the resurrected “Altja Pub” (Altja kõrts).  Only traces of the original pub’s foundation remained at the time of the park’s founding.  So, rather than rebuild the original pub, park administrators decided to restore another pub, the Kõrve kõrts, on the one-time site of the Altja kõrts.  The Kõrve kõrts – originally located at the more distant and well-heeled Palmse Manor – had also been destroyed.  Carpenters used old photographs and detailed drawings to reconstruct the thatched roof Kõrve kõrts in its new location, but they rededicated the new (old?) structure with the name of place (Altja kõrts) rather than the name of architecturally emulated object (Kõrve kõrts).  Perhaps this slight to the memory of the original Kõrve kõrts can be overlooked, since, in any event, the rebuilt structure turned out to be much larger than the original pub.  There is an obvious up-side to this “invented tradition,” since the new Altja/Kõrve pub “plays an important role in feeding tourists visiting this area.” Tarvel and Kurepalu, Altja, 12 & 17.




� Tõnurist is now buried in the park’s Ilumäe cemetery, a stone’s throw away from Ilmar Epner’s grave. Kink, Loodusmälestised 10: Harjumaa, Lahemaa, p. 8.  See also fn. 2.  





































































Lahemaa: The Paradox of the USSR’s First National Park




Robert W. Smurr




The Evergreen State College




2700 Evergreen Parkway NW




Olympia, WA 98505-0002









(360) 867-5056




� HYPERLINK "mailto:smurrr@evergreen.edu" ��smurrr@evergreen.edu�



















Abstract:   









	This paper investigates the historical background and consequences of creating Estonia’s Lahemaa National Park, the USSR’s first national park.  It analyzes the apparent paradox that, in a state as highly centralized as was the former Soviet Union, the empire’s first national park was established not within the dominant Russian Federation itself, but rather in the smallest republic of the Union.  It argues that the park spoke more to and for Estonian national culture than it did to all-Soviet socialist ideology, and that it did so in an era when the eponymous folk felt most threatened by Russian and Slavo-Soviet culture.  The paper therefore is structured to illustrate the intricate nexus between cultural and national constructs, the natural and built worlds, and historical memory.  It suggests that Estonia’s conservation-based civic institutions had, over time, successfully, if not deliberately, linked the concept of nation with that of territory and environment.  This study aims to illustrate the significant role that the natural world played providing one nation with a reified sense of self and purpose.


















Pat Krafcik
Pat recently returned from eight weeks in Slovakia where she had a Fulbright Senior Specialist Grant to lecture at
Comenius University in Slovakia's capital, Bratislava, in courses taught by faculty in the Department of Ethnology and
Cultural Anthropology. She spoke to students in folklore classes, as well as in a course on National Minorities in
Slovakia.  She had opportunities to interact with both students and faculty colleagues, and traveled from Bratislava to
Eastern Slovakia where she met with representatives of the Rusyn minority in Slovakia which is experiencing a cultural
revival since the Velvet Revolution of 1989.
 
Doug Schuler
Doug received a “Community Hero” award from Safeco for his work with Computer Professionals for Social
Responsibility (CPSR). CPSR is a public-interest alliance of individuals concerned about the impact of information and
communication technology on society.  Safeco awarded thirty of these awards nationwide, and Doug was one of three
awardees in the Puget Sound area.
 
Doug was also a participant in John Boylan's Next Conversation, May 12, at the Capitol Hill Arts Center (CHAC) in
Seattle. The episode was titled: "Democracy, Part II."  Doug is also presenting two papers this summer: "Tools for
Participation as a Citizen-Led Grand Challenge" at the "Tools for Participation: Collaboration, Deliberation, and
Decision Support" conference in Berkeley, California and "Towards Liberating Voices 2.0: Augmenting a Large,
Distributed Participatory Project" at the "Participatory Design Conference," October, 2008 in Bloomington, Indiana.
 








From: Ralph, Daniel
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Jose Gomez
On September 24, Jose delivered the opening keynote address at Northern Michigan
University's annual diversity conference, UNITED (Uniting Neighbors in the Experience of
Diversity). Titling his speech "New Challenges to Diversity," Jose used his own life
experiences to ground his message that efforts to value and promote diversity in the United
States face three new challenges: a renewed national hysteria over immigrants, an extreme
economic inequality not seen since the Great Depression, and legislative and judicial
abandonment of successful policies and practices that had begun to remedy unequal access to
employment, education and services.
 
Linda Moon Stumpff
Linda was the keynote speaker for the opening plenary at the Annual Meeting of the
American Fisheries Society in San Francisco.  She talked about Native Americans and
education in natural resources, focusing on successful programs at Evergreen and the Native
American Fish and Wildlife Society.  The title of her talk was "Restoring Fisheries, Restoring
Youth."
 
Linda also has two articles in the upcoming proceedings of the World Wilderness Conference
published by the USDA Forest Service.  One is "Native American Youth and Wilderness"
and the other is "Sacred Sites and Tribal Rights."  (The titles may be altered prior to
publication.)
 
Leonard Schwartz
Leonard was invited to participate and read in two international poetry festivals this summer:
the Ovidius Festival on the Black Sea and in Bucarest, Romania, and the Qinghai Lake
Poetry Festival in Qinghai, China. New poems have appeared in print this summer in the
Golden Handcuffs Review (Seattle), Ars Interpres (Stockholm), and Lillies and Cannonball
Review (New York), amongst other journals. His interview with the political philosopher
Michael Hardt is slated to appear in Rain Taxi in the fall.
 
Erik Thuesen
Erik Thuesen was a co-author on a poster presented at 15th International Conference on
Aquatic Invasive Species held in Nijmegen, The Netherlands, from September 23 to 27,
2007. The poster is entitled "Impact of the planktonic larvae of the invasive Asian bivalve
Limnoperna fortunei on the growth of larvae of the ³sábalo², Prochilodus lineatus (Pisces) in
South America."
 
Char Simons
Char’s article, "History of Journalism in the Middle East, North Africa and Central Asia" is
being published in the Oxford Encyclopedia of World Civilization, due out in 2008.  She also
published a roundup of recently-released Middle East films in the Sept/Oct 2007 issue of
Saudi Aramco World magazine, and the feature article on Beirut in the July 2007 issue of
Running Times magazine (www.runningtimes.com/rt/articles/?id=11275&c=8)
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Dylan Fischer and Carri LeRoy
Dylan gave a talk entitled "Fine root diversity, density, and phenology among native
hybridizing riparian trees at multiple elevations" at the 2007 joint Ecological Society of
America and Society for Ecological Restoration conference in San Jose California in August. 
This talk dealt with a community analysis approach to looking at roots in native riparian
areas.  An abstract of the talk is available at:
 
http://eco.confex.com/eco/2007/techprogram/P3473.HTM
 
Dylan and Carri also took five of their students to the conference to present posters they co-
authored with them.  The first was “Testing the interaction between leaf litter diversity and
salmon carcasses on in-stream leaf decomposition: An experimental manipulation, by Welles
Bretherton, Dylan G. Fischer, and Carri J. LeRoy.  The second was “The effects of
environmental stress on Quercus morphology, physiology, and distribution in the Chiricahua
Mountains, by Katherine E. Halstead, Kyle R. Pritchard, and Dylan G. Fischer.  Abstracts are
available at these two sites:
 
(http://eco.confex.com/eco/2007/techprogram/P3233.HTM)
(http://eco.confex.com/eco/2007/techprogram/P8100.HTM)
 
The posters can be viewed at the Field Ecology Lab Website:
http://academic.evergreen.edu/f/fischerd/E3.htm
 
Zhang Er
Zhang Er's newly collected poems, So Translating Rivers and Cities, was recently published
in a bilingual edition by Zephyr Press, and is available on Amazon.com or Zephyrpress.org.
She also gave a reading from the book at the University Bookstore in Seattle on July 27.
Earlier this year, she served as a juror for the Poetry on Buses 2007 Poetry Competition,
which was sponsored by King County Metro and 4Culture. She was one of the featured poets
in Qinghai Lake International Poetry Festival at Xining, China this August.
 
Andy Brabban and Michael Vavrus
In August, Michael and Andy gave an invited presentation at Doane College in Nebraska. 
The presentation was a one-day faculty workshop (Developing Successful Learning
Communities at Doane College) in support of the Doane's goals of instituting team-taught
thematic learning communities across their curriculum.  Andy also gave an invited talk to the
Olympia Rotary Club on September 17th entitled "Bacteriophages: a potential method to
control E. coli O157:H7.” The talk described the progress made by the Evergreen Phage Lab
over the last five years to control this potent pathogen and highlighted the central role
students play in primary research at Evergreen.
 
Doug Schuler
Doug gave a plenary presentation entitled "Digital Cities for Civic Intelligence" at the Digital
City Summit in Lisbon on September 24th.  He also gave the keynote presentation "Twenty-
five Years of Community Technology: Lessons Learned for Libraries and Local
Communities" at Dominican University in River Forest, Illinois in April.
 
Steve Niva
Steve published an op-ed piece, “Baird's Visit to Iraq Must Have Included Trip to Spin City”
in The Tacoma News Tribune (Sept. 9) that was critical of Congressman (D-WA) Brian
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Baird's shift from anti-war critic to now supporting the US occupation of Iraq after a recent
trip to Iraq.  Here’s a link to the article:


http://www.thenewstribune.com/opinion/othervoices/story/151439.html


He also published a review essay on the book Co-opting the PLO:  A Critical Reconstruction
of the Oslo Accords, 1993-1995 in the Journal of Palestine Studies (Spring 2007).
 
Nalini Nadkarni
This summer, Nalini gave the keynote talk at the biennial meeting of the American Society
for Literature and the Environment, which was held at Wofford College in Spartanburg,
South Carolina. She also received a Research Experience for Undergraduates Grant
Supplement for her current research grant from the National Science Foundation.  Nalini was
awarded second prize in the Terry Creative Writing Challenge at the University of British
Columbia for her entry, “Portrait of the Artist as a Young Sapling: Trees as Artists and
Mobile Entities.” In early August, she served as a Scientist-in-Residence at IslandWood, an
environmental education center on Bainbridge Island for city children from Puget Sound. If
others are interested in participating in the Scientist-in-Residence or Artist-in-Residence
programs, contact Nalini.
 
Ruth Hayes and Marilyn Freeman
Short films by Ruth and Marilyn were screened at the Northwest Film Forum’s 2007 Local
Sightings Film Festival in Seattle last night.  Ruth’s film is titled The Reign of the Dog: A
Revisionist History and Marilyn’s is called Baptism.  Also screened at the festival was a film
by Olympia artist and Evergreen alum Devon Damonte called Chromacycle.
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From: Ralph, Daniel
To: All Faculty; Academic Staff DL
Cc: Wettstein, Jason; Sprague, Todd; Balsam, Jessica; Acad. Computing DL
Subject: Fall  Faculty Update 3
Date: Wednesday, November 07, 2007 8:49:00 AM


Gerardo Chin-Leo
In winter 2007, Gerardo served on a panel held in Washington DC to review proposals on
environmental life sciences submitted to the National Science Foundation Graduate Student
Fellowship Program.


In spring 2007, Gerardo co-authored the chapter, “Bacterial Secondary Productivity” in the
Manual of Environmental Microbiology 3rd Edition, published by the American Society for
Microbiology Press. This manual discusses current advances in environmental microbiology
and presents modern methods to study the activity of microorganisms in a wide range of
environments. For more information of this latest edition of the Manual, follow this link to:
 
http://estore.asm.org/viewItemDetails.asp?ItemID=696.
 
Anita Lenges
Anita co-authored a chapter in the book Adapting Cases from a Developing Mathematical
Ideas Seminar to Closely Examine the Work of Teaching, which will be published in 2008.
Anita’s co-authors were Drs. Elham Kazemi and Virginia Stimpson from the University of
Washington.
 
Anita also made a presentation to the Northwest Mathematics Conference in Bellevue,
Washington, on October 12th, entitled Tracking and Ability Grouping: Creating an
Opportunity Gap.
 
Dharshi Bopegedera
Dharshi published an article titled “A Local Section’s Attempt to Recruit the Many Faces of
Chemistry” in the Journal of Chemical Education (volume 84, page 1589 (2007).  She also
gave a talk on this topic at the 2007 annual conference of the Washington College Chemistry
Teachers Association.
 
Sean Williams
The New York Times has lauded The Ethnomusicologists' Cookbook (edited by Sean) as one
of the "top 20 notable cookbooks published in 2006." Here is the URL of the list:
 
http://www.nytimes.com/2006/12/03/books/review/cookbook-extra.html.
 
Sean has also signed a contract with Routledge publishing to develop a textbook on Celtic
music for undergraduates.  She hopes to use this new text in the Ireland program in 2009-10.
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From: Ralph, Daniel
To: All Faculty; Academic Staff DL
Cc: Wettstein, Jason; Sprague, Todd; Balsam, Jessica; Acad. Computing DL
Subject: Fall  Faculty Update 4
Date: Thursday, December 13, 2007 3:27:02 PM


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
 
Mukti Khana
Mukti facilitated a series of expressive arts dialogue groups for the Second International
"Engaging the Other: The Power of Compassion" Conference sponsored by the
CommonBond Institute in Dearborn, Michigan  (www.cbiworld.org).  Mukti was also an
invited panelist in a roundtable on "Belongingness:  The Search for the Other Half".
 
In addition, Mukti is collaborating with Deborah Koff-Chapin, BFA on integrating
interpretive touch drawings of the conference with selected thematic proceedings from
interdisciplinary presenters.  Touch Drawing images done during the conference can be found
at www.touchdrawing.com under Conference Art.
 
Steve Niva
On October 17th, Steve published an article titled “Counterinsurgency American Style:  The
Symptomatic Case of Brian Baird's Pro-War Conversion” in the on-line magazine
Counterpunch.  To read the article, follow this link:
 
http://www.counterpunch.org/niva10172007.html
 
He also gave a lecture in Chicago on October 27 at the Third Unitarian Church's lecture
series where he discussed "Mistaken Enemies, Wrong War:  Strategic Failures in the
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
Education and worked with the leadership, management, service and teaching staff of the
College around issues of institutional paradigm shifts, inclusion, immigration, retention and
meeting national and European Union timelines and objectives.
 
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
Cc: Suchanek, Julie; Burt, Robin (RJ); Sprague, Todd; Wettstein, Jason; Sprague, Todd; Acad. Computing DL
Subject: Spring Faculty Update 1
Date: Friday, April 04, 2008 4:20:12 PM


Therese Saliba
Therese Saliba is presenting on “Feminism & Islam” at the “Feminisms & Religions:
Countering Mutual Silence” Conference at Seattle Pacific University, April 5. In addition, her
co-authored essay (with Tom Wright), “Rachel Corrie’s Case for Justice,” recently appeared
on Counterpunch for the 5th anniversary of Rachel’s death. The essay can be viewed online
at: http://www.counterpunch.org/wright03152008.html.
 
Peter Dorman
Peter's study, "Child Labor Wages and Productivity: Results from Demand-Side Surveys"
was published last month by the International Labor Organization and is available on their
website at http://www.ilo.org/ipecinfo/product/viewProduct.do?productId=7065.  The report
is based on surveys of adults and children in Ghana, Uganda, India and the Philippines
focusing on activities like garment production, vehicle repair, restaurant work and ocean
fishing.  The question investigated is whether employers gain financially from hiring children
instead of adults.
 
Alan Parker
Alan received a Leadership Award at the National Congress of American Indians Executive
Council Meeting in Washington, D.C. in March.  Although he was unable to attend in person,
he sent a recorded acceptance speech via DVD which is available for viewing through the
Northwest Indian Applied Research Institute.
 
Steve Niva
Steve published an article, "Behind the Current Israeli Escalation in Gaza:  Questions and
Answers," in the peace and justice publication Dissident Voice, March 7, 2008.  You can
access the online version of this at the following link:
 
http://www.dissidentvoice.org/2008/03/behind-the-current-israeli-escalation-in-gaza-
questions-and-answers/
 
Steve also wrote a feature review of the book Defending the Holy Land:  A Critical Analysis
of Israel's Security and Foreign Policy by the Israeli scholar Zeev Maoz that was published in
Journal of Palestine Studies, Winter (2008).
 
Steve gave a presentation on March 16, 2008 at the fifth-year memorial for Rachel Corrie
held at the Olympia Ballroom in downtown Olympia, in which he addressed "Same Wall,
New Strategy:  The Changing Israeli Strategies of Occupation and Disposession in Gaza."


Leonard Schwartz
Leonard's prose poem "Red Fog" appears in the April issue of Harper's. Common Ground
News Service, an advocacy group based in DC, ran a column of Schwartz's on poetics and
The Middle East Conflict, translated into both Hebrew and Arabic for distribution in the
region, and available at http://www.commongroundnews.org/index.php
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Leonard’s interview with the poet Amiri Baraka, transcribed from the radio show Cross
Cultural Poetics by Evergreen student Claire Sammons, appears in the April issue of Rain
Taxi.
 
Nancy Koppelman
In connection with her work with the Teaching American History Project, Nancy is
participating in a panel at the annual conference of the National Council of History Educators
in Louisville, Kentucky in April.  The panel is called "The Role of Local Leaders in US
History:  Using Oral Histories to Connect Our Communities to National Stories."  They will
be discussing how pedagogy grounded in place-based education and social history together
provide groundwork for doing and interpreting oral histories in students' communities.
 
Gillies Malnarich
Gillies wrote one of the practice briefs for the Building Engagement and Achievement for
Minority Students national project.  The brief is entitled "Increasing Student Engagement
through Faculty Development: A Practice Brief based on BEAMS project outcomes.”
 
Emily Lardner
Emily also wrote a brief for the BEAMS project, entitled "Strengthening Writing Across the
Curriculum." Both briefs are available from the Institute for Higher Education Policy.
(www.ihep.org).
 
Emily Lardner was also a respondent for a panel, "Learning Communities at a Crossroads:
Constraints and Innovations at Large Institutions" with Erica Anderson from Rutgers
University, Scott Evenbeck from IUPUI, and Steve Oliver and Becky Francouer from
University of Washington, at the American Educational Research Association meeting in
March.
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From: Ralph, Daniel
To: All Faculty; Academic Staff DL
Cc: Quarandillo, Ann Mary; Sprague, Todd; Suchanek, Julie; Burt, Robin (RJ); Wettstein, Jason; Acad. Computing


DL
Subject: Spring Faculty Update 2
Date: Wednesday, April 16, 2008 3:24:00 PM


Sean Williams
Sean presented a paper titled "World Music Pedagogy in an Interdisciplinary Context," as
part of a panel on teaching world musics in higher education at the Cultural Diversity in
Music Education conference in Seattle on March 20-23. It was the first time the conference
has been held in the United States. While at the conference, she was also interviewed for an
upcoming book about the lives, career paths, and relationship to music among
ethnomusicologists. In addition, her latest book, a co-edited volume titled The Garland
Handbook of Southeast Asian Music, was published in March by Routledge.
 
Helena Meyer-Knapp
Helena has been awarded a Fulbright Fellowship for Spring 2009.  She will spend a semester
at the Graduate Institute of Peace Studies at Kyung Hee University in Seoul, South Korea.
 
Greg Mullins
Greg Mullins has several essays published and in process. His essay “Dionne Brand’s Poetics
of Recognition: Reframing Sexual Rights” appears in the current issue of Callaloo (30.4).  He
authored the lead essay for a special issue of Peace Review. 20.1 (Spring 2008), titled
“Remembering Wrongs, Imagining Rights: Labors of Literature and of Human Rights.” In
addition, he’s had an essay accepted for publication in the Brazilian scholarly journal Ilha do
Desterro. That essay is: “Subjects of Rights in Another City of God: Violence, Sexuality, and
the Contested Norms of Human Rights.” 


Greg was also in Brazil recently for the launch of a special issue of the scholarly journal
Cadernos de Letras, for which he served as guest editor. He also lectured on human rights
and literature at the Universidade Federal Fluminense.
 
Eric Stein
In December 2006 Eric published an article titled "Colonial Theaters of Proof: Representation
and Laughter in 1930s Rockefeller Foundation Hygiene Cinema in Java," in Health and
History 8(2).  The full text of the article can be viewed at the following link:
http://www.historycooperative.org/journals/hah/8.2/stein.html
 
Eric also presented a paper at the American Anthropological Association conference in
December 2007 entitled "Skipping the Loo: Sociality, Sensuality, and Shame in Javanese
Public Defecation."  The panel was titled "Rubbish or Not?"
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From: Ralph, Daniel
To: All Faculty; Acad. Computing DL; Academic Staff DL
Cc: Quarandillo, Ann Mary; Sprague, Todd; Wettstein, Jason; Balsam, Jessica; Suchanek, Julie; Burt, Robin (RJ)
Subject: Spring Faculty Update 3
Date: Wednesday, May 07, 2008 11:30:21 AM


Lara Evans and Erica Lord
Lara gave a talk at the Symposium on Native Performance Art at the Denver Art Museum in
April.  Her paper compared two versions of “Artifact Piece,” Luiseno Indian James Luna's
1987 performance and Visiting Faculty member Erica Lord’s restaging of the work in New
York.  Erica’s performance foregrounded issues of gender, objecthood, and the ways that
objects stand in for people and vice-versa.  Lara’s talk included a photographic presentation
on Erica’s performance.  The symposium interspersed formal discussions with Cabaret
performances, dancing, and traditional rabbit dances and round dances.
 
Steve Niva
Steve presented a paper, "Surging to Algeria:  How the U.S. is Learning the Wrong
Counterinsurgency Lessons in Iraq," at the annual Northwest Regional Middle East  Studies
Seminar held at Portland State University on April 12th.  He also published an article, "The
New Walls of Baghdad:  How the U.S. is Reproducing Israel's Flawed Occupation Strategies
in Iraq," in the on-line foreign policy review Foreign Policy in Focus on April 21, 2008. 
http://www.fpif.org/fpiftxt/5162
 
Steve was a keynote speaker at the "Standing with the Living Stones:  Searching for Peace in
Israel/Palestine" conference held at Seattle's University Presbyterian Church on April 18,
2008.  He gave a talk entitled:  "One Land, Two Peoples: Understanding the Israeli-
Palestinian Conflict Today" that was aired on TVW (Washington State's cable television
channel)  the following week.  For a streaming media version of the talk that was aired on
TVW go to:
http://www.tvw.org/media/mediaplayer.cfm?evid=2008040100B&bhcp=1
 
Andy Buchman
Andy presented a paper on "Tim Burton's Cinematic Sweeney Todd" at the Symposium on
American Musical Theater at the University of Washington, April 11-12, 2008.
 
Zoltan Grossman
Zoltan recently attended the United Nations Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues
(UNPFII) 7th Session at UN Headquarters in New York. The UNPFII Session focused on
climate change and indigenous peoples. Zoltan attended as an Observer from the
International Geographical Union (IGU), along with several other Observers from the IGU
Indigenous Peoples' Knowledges and Rights Commission. Zoltan also presented at the
Association of American Geographers (AAG) in Boston on "The United League of
Indigenous Nations Treaty and Cross-Border Cooperation." His article on "Indigenous
Nations' Responses to Climate Change" will be published in the next issue of the American
Indian Culture and Research Journal.
 
Leonard Schwartz
Leonard had two new books published in April. One was a book length poem published by
Chax Press entitled A Message Back And Other Furors.  The other is a limited edition,
handsewn poem from Ugly Duckling Press entitled The Library Of Seven Readings.
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From: Ralph, Daniel
To: All Faculty; Academic Staff DL; Acad. Computing DL
Cc: Balsam, Jessica; Burt, Robin (RJ); Suchanek, Julie; Sprague, Todd; Quarandillo, Ann Mary; Wettstein, Jason
Subject: Spring Faculty Update 4
Date: Thursday, May 08, 2008 1:02:18 PM


Dylan Fischer and Carri LeRoy
Dylan and Carri are co-authors on an article published in the journal Ecology 89 (3) 2008. 
The article is titled “Plant–Soil–Microorganism Interactions: Heritable
Relationships Between Plant Genotype and Associated Soil Microorganisms.”
 
Char Simons
Char was named distinguished alumnus of the year by Indiana University's West European
Studies Department and was the keynote speaker at WEST's Career Night in Bloomington,
Indiana. She also recently completed a piece on Islam in Europe for the Oxford Encyclopedia
of Islam, and had a column published in The Olympian's Religion page on ritual and
mourning (March 29th).  Also, the next issue of the Middle East Studies Association
Newsletter features a collage of cover photos taken by Char and some of the students in the
Silk Roads program while in Egypt, Jordan and Turkey.
 
Michael Vavrus
Michael was the keynote luncheon speaker at the Washington Educators for Social Justice
Conference on May 3 in Seattle.  The title of his talk was “A GIS [geographical information
system] for Educational Justice.”
 
Cheryl Simrell King
Cheryl was selected as the Public Administration Educator of the Year by the Evergreen
chapter of ASPA (American Society for Public Administration), which includes most of
western Washington.  Mary Van Verst, Program Development and Evaluation Coordinator
for the Washington Commission for National and Community Service in Olympia, nominated
Cheryl because her “work on bridging the divide between academics and practitioners is
noteworthy, along with helping public organizations to become more open to citizens and
their own employees.”
 
Andy Brabban and Betty Kutter
Andy and Betty are co-authors on a new paper detailing their continuing efforts to develop a
phage-based treatment to control the human pathogen E.coli O157:H7. This is the 7th paper
as part of their collaboration with Todd Callaway at the USDA-Texas A&M.  The paper is
titled “Bacteriophage isolated from feedlot cattle can reduce Escherichia coli O157:H7
populations in ruminant gastrointestinal tracts.”
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From: Ralph, Daniel
To: All Faculty; Acad. Computing DL; Academic Staff DL
Cc: Balsam, Jessica; Sprague, Todd; Wettstein, Jason; Burt, Robin (RJ); Suchanek, Julie; Quarandillo, Ann Mary
Subject: Spring Faculty Update 5
Date: Wednesday, May 28, 2008 2:33:55 PM


Ratna Roy
Ratna has been awarded a Washington State Arts Commission Folk Arts Fellowship Award
for her work in Orissi Dance. The award is to "recognize outstanding traditional artists for
their contributions to their culture and community. They are based solely on recognition of
past and continuing merit in maintaining cultural traditions." This is one of the highest honors
that the State can award to a traditional artist, akin to Japan's "living treasure" honors.
 
Laura Coghlan and Joli Sandoz
Joli and Laura presented in May at the Pacific Northwest Higher Education Teaching and
Learning Conference. The focus was findings from an on-going Evergreen research project
designed to develop and field test Evergreen-style learning goals and assignments related to
diversity and anti-oppression topics. (Field test sites were two Evergreen courses, one
addressing disability studies for prospective human service professionals, and one on race
and gender in U.S. basketball.) Laura and Joli welcome questions from the Evergreen
community about the project, and the goals and assignments are available as a three-page
handout. Data analysis should be complete this summer.
 
Sarah Ryan and Stephanie Coontz
Sarah Ryan has an article in the second edition of Stephanie Coontz’ revised and expanded
collection, American Families: A Multicultural Reader.  The article is titled "Management by
Stress: The Reorganization of Work Hits Home."  The volume is edited by Stephanie and two
TESC graduates, Gabrielle Raley and Maya Parsons. The book also includes articles by such
well-know writers on family diversity as Patricia Hill Collins, Maxine Baca Zinn, George
Sanchez, Bonnie Thornton Dill, Linda Burton, Rachel Salazar-Parrenas, Min Zhou and many
more.
 
Paula Schofield
Paula was a co-author on a paper just published by The Society for Applied Spectroscopy.
The article is titled “Attenuated Total Reflection Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy
Analysis of Human Hair Fiber Structure” and was in the May 2008 edition of Applied
Spectroscopy: 62 (5), 525-535. This work was done in collaboration with Professor Don
Lyman, Department of Bioengineering and Department of Materials Science and Engineering
at the University of Utah.
 
Paula was also invited to be a grant reviewer for the National Science Foundation's Division
of Undergraduate Education. She spent four days in Washington DC reviewing applications
for the Scholarships in Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics (S-STEM) 2008
program. 
 
Joanna Cashman
Joanna Cashman, artistic director of Wild Grace Dance Theater, choreographed a suite of
four dances entitled “Empathic Currents” which was performed in Olympia on April 25th &
26th.  The concert of contemporary dance was a fundraising benefit for the Iraqi-American
Direct Aid Initiative, a citizens’ diplomacy, humanitarian relief project which provides
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urgently needed medical care to Iraqi civilians injured and displaced as the result of the
ongoing Iraqi crisis.
 
 
 
 
 








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
Date: Monday, June 09, 2008 1:38:20 PM


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
Cc: Balsam, Jessica; Sprague, Todd; Burt, Robin (RJ); Suchanek, Julie; Wettstein, Jason; Quarandillo, Ann Mary
Subject: Summer Faculty Update 1
Date: Wednesday, July 02, 2008 11:25:42 AM


Zoltan Grossman
Zoltan has been elected Co-Chair of the Indigenous Peoples Specialty Group of the
Association of American Geographers (AAG), along with Renee Pualani Louis of the
University of Hawai'i. He recently presented at a conference on "Climate Change: Tribal
Perspectives," sponsored by the USFSW and BIA in Seattle. He has an article on the same
topic in the upcoming American Indian Culture and Research Journal.
 
Joe Feddersen and Gail Tremblay
The University of Washington Press has released Joe Feddersen: Vital Signs, an exhibition
catalog documenting not only his current work but also his career as an artist since 1972. 
The book was published in conjunction with the Hallie Ford Museum of Art at Willamette
University and is part of the Jacob Lawrence Series of Art Books.  Joe has the honor of being
the first Native American artist selected for this series.  Gail Tremblay wrote the critical
essay about Joe’s work for the book, “Speaking in a Language of Vital Signs.”  To see the
releases in regard to this work from the Hallie Ford Museum and the University of
Washington Press, please click on the following links:
 
http://blog.willamette.edu/news/archives/2008/03/hallie_ford_mus_20.php
 
http://www.washington.edu/uwpress/search/books/DOBJOE.html
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From: Ralph, Daniel
To: All Faculty; Academic Staff DL; Acad. Computing DL
Cc: Wettstein, Jason; Balsam, Jessica; Sprague, Todd
Subject: Winter Faculty Update 1
Date: Friday, January 11, 2008 2:51:27 PM
Attachments: n7m10602.JPG


Dylan Fischer
The attached photo from Dylan’s minirhizotron root ecology research will be included in a
new Ecology textbook by Michael Cain, William Bowman, and Sally Hacker, published by
Sinauer Associates.
 
Therese Saliba
Therese has been appointed Associate Editor for the online version of the Brill Encyclopedia
of Women and Islamic Cultures.  In November 2007 she gave a presentation on “Feminist
Encyclopedic Knowledge Production and Online Access” at the Middle East Studies
Association Conference in Montreal, Canada, and a presentation on “Teaching on Arabs and
Muslims Post-9/11” with University of Washington colleague Amal Eqeiq at the Washington
Staff and Faculty of Color Conference in Wenatchee.
 
In May 2007, Therese was an invited speaker at San Francisco State University’s launch of
their new “Arab and Muslim Ethnicities & Diasporas” program within the College of Ethnic
Studies. Therese is currently a Board Member for the Rachel Corrie Foundation for Peace &
Justice and on the Advisory Board for The Gaza Mental Health Foundation.
 
John Robbins
John’s new book, The Actor’s Survival Guide: How to Make Your Way in Hollywood, was
released on Monday by Continuum International Publishing Group. A description, table of
contents, and biographical information about John can be found on the publisher’s website at
the following link:
 
http://www.continuumbooks.com/Books/detail.aspx?
ReturnURL=/Subjects/default.aspx&CountryID=2&ImprintID=2&BookID=130778
 
Elizabeth Williamson
Elizabeth’s article, "Useful and fancy articles: relics of the 19th century stage" has been
published in The Shakespearean International Yearbook: Special Section, Updating
Shakespeare, Vol. 7, published by Ashgate.
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From: Ralph, Daniel
To: All Faculty; Academic Staff DL
Cc: Acad. Computing DL; Wettstein, Jason; Balsam, Jessica
Subject: Winter Faculty Update 2
Date: Friday, February 08, 2008 1:29:04 PM


Michael Vavrus
Michael’s invited book review of Race, Culture and Education: The Selected Works of James
A. Banks was published in the Diamond Anniversary Issue of The Journal of Negro
Education (Summer 2007, vol. 76, no. 3.)  The website for this journal can be viewed at:
http://www.journalnegroed.org/
 
Bob Haft
On January 27th, Bob gave a talk on the American photographer Lewis Hine at the Whatcom
Museum of History and Art in Bellingham.  Bob was invited to speak in conjunction with an
exhibition of Hine's photographs (on loan from the George Eastman House in Rochester,
New York).  These photographs have been traveling around the country for the past decade,
and this will be their only exhibition in Washington State.  It ends on March 2.
 
Also, one of Bob’s photographs is being used on the label of a fish sauce being produced by
local farmers and fishermen on the Japanese island of Awaji.  This fish sauce is being
produced in an effort to shore up the flagging economy there and was a project that former
Kobe Exchange Faculty Member Mitsuharu Mitsui was helping the farmers and fishermen to
introduce and market.  The picture is of The Pearl Bridge, the world's longest
suspension bridge, which joins Awaji Island to the mainland of Japan.  The fish sauce has
already won many favorable reviews, and will appear in one of Japan's foremost gourmet
food magazines, "Amakara Techou."
 
Erik Thuesen
Erik is a co-author on a paper entitled "Effects of food deprivation on enzymatic activities of
the Mediterranean deep-sea crab Geryon longipes A. Milne-Edwards, 1882 and the Pacific
hydrothermal vent crab, Bythograea thermydron Williams, 1980 (Decapoda, Brachyura)"
published in the January issue of the journal Crustaceana. The abstract can be read at:
 
http://www.ingentaconnect.com/content/brill/cr/2008/00000081/00000001/art00006.
 
Ruth Hayes
Ruth’s article, "Teaching Animation in an Interdisciplinary Context" was published in the
Animation Journal for Fall 2007.
 
Emily Lardner and Gillies Malnarich
Gillies and Emily wrote an article entitled "Sustaining Learning Communities: Moving from
Curricular to Educational Reform" which was just published in Perspectives, put out by the
Massachusetts Association for Curriculum Supervision and Development.  
 
Karen Gaul
Karen’s ethnographic study of Dena’ina Athabascans in Alaska has been published.  It is
called Nanutset ch’u Q’udi Gu: Before Our Time and Now, an Ethnohistory of Lake Clark
National Park and Preserve.  This is a research project she worked on over three years in
Alaska.  Karen also oversaw the development of its companion piece, West Cook Inlet
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Ethnographic Overview and Assessment (written by Ron Stanek, James Fall and Davin
Holen) which came out in 2007.
 
Karen gave a paper called “Subsistence, Tourism and Research: Layers of Meaning in Lake
Clark National Park and Preserve” at the 8th World Wilderness Congress Symposium,
Science and Stewardship to Protect and Sustain Wilderness Values, which was held in
Anchorage, Alaska in 2005.
 
 
 








From: Ralph, Daniel
To: All Faculty; Academic Staff DL
Cc: Wettstein, Jason; Quarandillo, Ann Mary; Balsam, Jessica; Acad. Computing DL
Subject: Winter Faculty Update 3
Date: Thursday, March 06, 2008 11:33:11 AM


Burt Guttman
Burt’s most recent book, Finding Your Wings, A Workbook for Beginning Bird Watchers has
been published by Houghton Mifflin as part of the well-known Peterson Field Guide Series. 
The book is based on Burt’s work doing bird walks and courses for the Black Hills Audubon
Society, and it is also based on the Finkel-type workshop method used by many faculty at
Evergreen.  On Thursday, March 6th, at 7:00, Burt will give a talk followed by a book signing
at the Olympia Barnes & Noble on Black Lake Boulevard.
 
Ratna Roy
Ratna was chosen to receive the Gordon Ekvall Tracie award, presented by the Ethnic
Heritage Council, on February 29th.  The Gordon Ekvall Tracie Memorial Award is given to
an ethnic performing artist who has made significant contributions to the development and
presentation of the traditional arts in the community.  Here is the language used in the
announcement to celebrate her achievements:
 


This year we honor Dr. Ratna Roy, a highly accomplished artist and well-known
figure in Seattle’s Indian-American community. Dr. Ratna Roy has received
numerous scholarships and awards and is a senior disciple of the Late Padmashri
Guru Pankaj Charan Das and has written several articles on his “Mahari” (devadasi)
legacy in classical Odissi dance, little known in its home country of India today. She
has trained numerous dancers who have gone on to win national and international
dance competitions as she is an expert in Odissi dance style. Dr. Ratna Roy is Artistic
Director of Urvasi Dance Company which specializes in the Odissi Classical Dance
form from India.
 


Nancy Koppelman
Nancy gave a presentation at the 27th Annual Conference on the First Year Experience
entitled "Reading to Write:  Attuning College Freshmen to a Literate Life."  The presentation
was based on a booklet by that title, which she wrote with support from the Evergreen Fund
for Innovation.  Nancy has made a number of copies of this booklet available to staff and
faculty who are interested.
 
Nalini Nadkarni
Nalini was appointed to the Board of Contributors for The Olympian, and will write four
guest columns each year for the Op-Ed page. In January, she gave a lecture on her canopy
research and outreach activities to the Technology Alliance, a statewide organization of
leaders from Washington’s high-tech businesses, research institutions, and the community
dedicated to Washington's economic success. In February, she carried out two weeks of
reflective thinking and writing to create a synthesis of her canopy research, sponsored by a
grant from the National Science Foundation. She worked as a Visiting Scholar at The
Whiteley Center. This center, located at Friday Harbor Laboratories on San Juan Island,
provides a refuge for established scholars and artists in any discipline to study, write, create,
and interact with collaborators in a peaceful and quiet environment.  If you are interested in
finding out about being a Visiting Scholar there, contact Nalini for more information.
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Alan Nasser
Alan recently gave an invited talk to the International Studies Program at the University of
Oregon, titled “The Political Morality of Suicide Bombing”.
 
Sandy Yannone
Sandy was a featured presenter at the Casper College Humanities Festival.  The theme of the
conference was "Do Institutions Stifle Creativity?"  Sandy’s presentation was “Evergreen's
Creative Imperative: The Perks and Perils of Progressive Education".
 
 
 
 





